demoer venetits.

community

Models for Effective Credit Union Governance

Maintaining Community Connections following a Merger

LOU HAMMOND KETILSON
KIMBERLY BROWN

Occasional Paper Series

autonomy participati

CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES





This occasional paper, first titled *A Post-Merger Governance Review:*Report to the Governance Committee of Advantage Credit Union,
originated as an internal review commissioned by the board of directors
of Advantage Credit Union in Saskatchewan.

The board generously agreed to allow us to publish the study in our occasional paper series in order to make the extensive background research and the credit union's merger experience more widely available to credit unions, co-operatives, and other membership-based organizations. It is hoped that the paper will provide useful guidance to other groups contemplating a similar move.

Models for Effective Credit Union Governance

Maintaining Community Connections following a Merger

Lou Hammond Ketilson Kimberly Brown



Copyright © 2011 Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown Centre for the Study of Co-operatives University of Saskatchewan

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the publisher. In the case of photocopying or other forms of reprographic reproduction, please consult Access Copyright, the Canadian Copyright Licensing Agency, at 1–800–893–5777.

Editing, design, and layout by Nora Russell Centre for the Study of Co-operatives

Printed in Canada by Printing Services Document Solutions University of Saskatchewan 11 12 13 / 3 2 1

Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8 Phone: (306) 966–8509 / Fax: (306) 966–8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca

Website: http://www.usaskstudies.coop

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
SECTION I	
Purpose of the Study and Methodology	5
Section II	
Overview of Relevant Literature	6
Introduction	6
Defining Governance	7
Theories of Organizational Governance	8
Principal-Agent Theory	8
Stewardship Theory	9
Democratic Theory	9
The Carver Model — Policy Governance®	10
Integrated Governance Models	11
Co-op Governance Mechanisms:	
External, Intermediate, and Internal	12
External Governance Mechanisms	12
Intermediate Governance Mechanisms	12
Control Structures	14
Member Participation in AGMs and Elections	19
Communication	20
Internal Governance Mechanisms	21
Board Structure	21
Board Development	23
Board Dynamics	26
SECTION III	
Research Results and Recommendations	28
Intermediate Governance Mechanisms	28

vi Contents

Control Structures	28
Branch Information Meetings and AGMs	34
Communication	36
Internal Governance Mechanisms	38
Leadership	38
Board-Management Relations	39
Board Dynamics	40
Board Development	40
Board Size and Regional Representation	45
Appendices	
A: Participant Selection Process	48
B: In-Depth Interview Questions	50
C: Focus Group Questions	54
D: Potential Models for District-Based Representation	56
Endnotes	57
Bibliography	63
List of Centre Publications	67

Executive Summary

HE PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY WAS

- to review published research and current practice to identify emerging issues and ideas about credit union mergers and effective governance models
- to examine Advantage Credit Union's (ACU) existing governance model, in particular the ways in which the recent merger between Northgate and Advantage credit unions had impacted governance structures, policies, processes, and practices; and membership identity, loyalty, and participation
- to gather information for input to decisions taken by the Governance Committee regarding optimum board size and committee structure

Research results and recommendations are based on three primary sources of information:

- in-depth interviews with Advantage Credit Union board members, business relations managers (BRM, also called branch managers), and members of the Member Relations Committees (MRC)
- focus group sessions with ACU members
- ACU documents describing existing democratic structures, processes, and practices; statistical information, including the asset and membership bases for ACU and individual branches

Research Results and Recommendations

Research Results and Recommendations with Regard to Existing Control Structures

- MRCs make visible, tangible, and meaningful contributions to local communities on behalf of ACU
- MRCs help develop important linkages and connections between communities and the credit union through local representation
- MRCs promote member engagement and participation
- MRCs increase the "surface area" of ACU representatives in local communities

- MRCs help to develop understanding and trust among ACU communities
- although the work that MRCs do is visible in their communities, MRCs are not as visible as they could be
- MRC roles and responsibilities may not be clear to members, MRC members, and BRMs
- MRCs hold the potential to be fruitful recruitment pools for potential board members

Recommendation #1 — Maintain and promote the visibility of MRCs and their members in local branches.

Recommendation #2 — Update MRCs on roles and responsibilities and develop a list of best practices to help guide MRCs in their activities.

Research Results and Recommendations with Regard to Branch Information Meetings and AGMs

- members are aware of branch information meetings and AGMs but rarely attend
- personal and proactive invitation for members is an effective strategy to facilitate member participation in AGMs and elections

Recommendation #3 — Encourage local representatives and staff to proactively and personally invite members to local information meetings.

Research Results and Recommendations with Regard to Communication, Board Functioning, and Recruitment

- members are most likely to approach local staff in order to acquire information or express concerns
- effective MRC and director communication helps build understanding between the board and local communities
- information is easily accessible for members
- board members have a consistent and clear understanding of the board's role

- ACU annual planning sessions and quarterly reviews effectively help the board identify and meet its objectives
- the board and management have effectively developed a solid understanding of their respective roles and established a relationship of trust and co-operation
- ACU board culture encourages and facilitates communication and an environment of respect and cohesion
- potential candidates are unlikely to run for the board at their own initiative
- although the board has achieved strong levels of gender and occupational diversity, some groups remain under-represented at the board table
- ACU's approach to director education successfully contributes to board competency
- although some board members find board and management evaluations to be somewhat difficult and awkward at times, most board members found the exercise useful

Recommendation #4 — Consider the introduction of tenure limits to increase diversity on the board.

Recommendation #5 — Develop a proactive recruitment strategy to recruit MRC and board members.

Recommendation #6 — Extend a limited amount of training opportunities to MRC members who are interested in learning about board activities.

Research Results and Recommendations with Regard to Board Size and Structure

- large board size does not appear to have negatively impacted the effectiveness or efficiency of board meetings
- quality of representation has not diminished in communities represented by nonresidential board members

Recommendation #7 — Consider reducing board size but maintain existing MRC structure.

Recommendation #7.1 — Introduce and encourage ways for board members to reduce travel time to and from MRC meetings in distant communities, yet maintain board member–MRC communication.

SECTION I

Purpose of the Study and Methodology

VER THE PAST TWO DECADES, there have been many credit union mergers in Canada, particularly in western Canada and Ontario. During the same period, credit union membership has increased steadily. So, while the number of credit unions has decreased, their average size has increased.

In addition to an increase in membership size, amalgamation has created a need to develop new partnerships among many different communities. As democratic organizations with elected boards of directors, such changes can have profound effects on organizational governance and, as a result, credit unions need to consider carefully the impact of amalgamation on their governance structures.

The purpose of this study was to

- review published research and current practice to identify emerging issues and ideas about credit union mergers and effective governance models
- examine the existing governance model of Advantage Credit Union (ACU), in particular the ways in which the recent merger between Northgate and Advantage credit unions had impacted governance structures, policies, processes, and practices; and membership identity, loyalty, and participation
- gather information for input to decisions taken by the Governance Committee regarding optimum board size and committee structure

Research results and recommendations are based on three primary sources of information:

- in-depth interviews with Advantage Credit Union board members, business relations managers (BRMs, also called branch managers), and members of the Member Relations Committees (MRCs)
- focus group sessions with ACU members
- Advantage Credit Union provided information about its existing democratic structures, processes, and practices, and its board of directors; it also

provided statistical information about the credit union, including the asset and membership bases of both ACU and individual branches

Researchers conducted eighteen in-depth interviews and three focus group sessions. Careful effort was made to ensure diverse geographic and demographic representation in both the interview and focus group process. Appendix A contains a detailed description of the participant selection process; Appendix B, the in-depth interview questions; and Appendix C, the focus group questions.

SECTION II

Overview of Relevant Literature

Introduction

FOR THE PAST TWO DECADES, academics and practitioners have paid significant attention to the topic of governance, particularly in the corporate sector. Corporate scandals and increased global competition have highlighted governance concerns such as excessive executive power, shareholders' inability to oversee and control management, the weak regulatory regimes of national governments, and corporate social responsibility. The co-op sector faces similar challenges. For example, recent best practices in governance stress the need to ensure director and board competency, effective member control over management, and social, economic, and environmental sustainability. Co-operatives are also facing rapid changes in technology, advances in telecommunication, and fierce competition from well-capitalized corporations and from other co-operatives. While co-ops strive to achieve excellence in leadership, they must also nurture and maintain the democratic nature of their organizations. For co-ops, governance concerns extend beyond the need for ethical accounting practices and sound board structure; co-op governance must also address issues of member engagement and democracy.

This literature review aims to examine governance issues that are pertinent specifically to co-op boards. It draws from, and brings together, information in relation to co-op governance from a variety of sources, including academic articles, prescriptive material,

and co-operative organizations. First, it reviews definitions of governance and gives some consideration to what could be considered "good governance." Second, it discusses several theories of organizational governance and their respective strengths and weakness. In the final section, it introduces a conceptual model (a way of thinking) about co-op governance structures and practices. This section is divided into three parts, with each part addressing one of the following areas: external, intermediate, and internal governance mechanisms.

Defining Governance

There are many definitions of governance, several of which could be used to describe co-op governance. Most definitions have two key features. First, there is usually a reference to *deciding where an organization is going*, including a discussion of setting goals, objectives, or the organizational mission.² Second, there is usually a reference to *deciding how an organization will get to where it wants to go*, such as strategic plans, policies, or structures.³ In their study of twenty nonprofit and voluntary organizations in Canada, the Institute on Governance defined governance as

the structures, functions (responsibilities), processes (practices) and organizational traditions that the board of an organization uses to ensure accomplishment of the organizational mission. These determine how power is exercised, how decisions are taken, how stakeholders have their say and how decision-makers are held accountable.⁴

This definition is useful for co-ops because it recognizes the importance of organizational traditions, such as co-operative values and principles, and the centrality of stakeholder (or member) rights and obligations in governance.

Definitions of governance in and of themselves do not help determine whether an organization is governed well or poorly. There is also a large body of literature on what constitutes "good governance." According to the Institute on Governance,

Good governance is about both achieving desired results and achieving them in the right way; that is, in a way that is consistent with the normative values of democracy and social justice. This is particularly important for the voluntary sector where values play a very important role in determining both organizational purpose and style of operation.⁵

Although co-operatives are different from voluntary organizations in many ways, this definition is useful for co-ops. Good governance in co-operatives requires achieving these objectives in a way that is consistent with co-op values and principles. So, along with

achieving their financial and nonfinancial objectives, co-ops may also use co-op values and principles to assess the success of their governance practices.

Theories of Organizational Governance

Although many theories of organizational governance were not developed with the cooperative sector specifically in mind, a number of theories have been applied to the co-op context. In his work "Making Sense of Co-operative Governance," Chris Cornforth, for example, identifies several theories of organizational governance and explains how they may be useful for co-operative organizations. In a later work entitled "Governance in Democratic Member-Based Organisations," Roger Spear discusses a number of governance theories and their relevance for democratically controlled organizations (DMOs), including co-operatives. These theories take on both descriptive and/or normative approaches — that is, they attempt to explain how governance *actually* happens and/or how governance *should* happen. The following section identifies four major theories of governance often applied to the co-operative context and discusses their key assumptions, strengths, and weaknesses.

Principal-Agent Theory

The principal-agent theory focusses on the ability of the principal (owner) to control the agent (manager) so that the agent acts in the principal's best interest. Key assumptions of this theory are that the principal and agent have different interests, and that individuals will act in their own self-interest if not constrained in some way. Considered the most dominant theory of corporate governance, the principal-agent theory has been used to analyze power relations between co-op members and managers, as well as between co-op members and their elected representatives. In his work "Obstacles to Cooperation," Lee Egerstrom argues that co-op members lack the incentive and/or capacity to control managers when members are reluctant to invest in their co-op, and when co-ops, especially large ones, need to act "business-like." According to Spear, external factors such as legislative frameworks and the professionalization of co-op managers tilt the balance of power towards managers and away from members.

The principal-agent theory highlights the importance of member engagement in, and understanding of, organizational activities so that members can effectively control and monitor management. However, Spear notes that the principal-agent theory focusses on

individuals and downplays "collective, social or organizational factors" and also "tends to ignore non-financial motivations such as mutual, reciprocal benefits, trust, and other features of social economy ideology that often helped initiate and support such enterprises." Finally, in his book *Boards that Make a Difference*, John Carver warns that too strong a focus on overseeing management may lead to the board meddling in administrative matters and staff activities, thereby ignoring their duty to set organizational direction and develop policies. ¹³

Stewardship Theory

The stewardship theory of governance focusses on the relationship between the board and management and on the roles of various stakeholders. This theory assumes that managers and staff are honest, trustworthy, and capable. Unlike the principal-agent theory, management and the board work together in partnership, ¹⁴ seeking to protect both financial and nonfinancial organizational assets such as human resources and organizational reputation, and not just shareholder value. ¹⁵ In addition, managers and board members pay close attention to, and manage, the interests of multiple stakeholders, not just those of shareholders. ¹⁶ Finally — and a key role — the board "adds value" to decision making to improve organizational performance, thereby placing a strong emphasis on the need for director expertise, knowledge, and experience. ¹⁷

Spear feels that the stewardship model of governance may be appealing to co-op boards because co-op organizations are owned and controlled by their members: "If this model is applied to democratic member owned organizations, it is clearly more attractive from the point of view of emphasizing the social dimension of DMOs, where trust and social economy values can be functional for good performance and good board/management/member relations." Spear also highlights the weaknesses of the stewardship model, including a lack of oversight of management, an over-reliance on the professionalism of managers, and the difficulty of recognizing the interests of multiple stakeholders while projecting a unified organizational position. Finally, Cornforth notes that because directors are democratically elected, it might be impractical to expect high levels of expertise, knowledge, and experience from board members.

Democratic Theory

The democratic theory of governance centres on the democratic nature of co-operatives and the way in which it impacts decision making in the organization. According to this

view, members should be able to participate in some form of decision making, while elected officials represent members' interests in representative bodies. Cornforth states that open elections, the one member, one vote principle, pluralism, and holding representatives to account are key features of the democratic model.²¹ In its work titled *Making Membership Meaningful*, the International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (the Joint Project) examines democratic participation in co-operatives.²² It goes beyond a discussion about elections and representation and stresses the importance of member engagement and participation in co-op activities. In a discussion about expanding members' participation, the Joint Project states:

Co-operatives need to be open organizations in which all types of people can participate spontaneously; where they have the opportunity for participation in all bodies of the organization, including the board of directors, and these opportunities must be open to all members based on the guaranteed right of one person, one vote.... In addition, co-operatives should not assign roles in co-operative decision making and policy planning solely to the board of directors and management, for it is vital to guarantee links with members in all processes.²³

Members thus need to be involved in many levels of decision making in their co-ops.

The Carver Model — Policy Governance ®

Developed in 1976, John Carver's Policy Governance® model was developed for nonprofit and public organizations. ²⁴ It focusses on the board's responsibility to set organizational vision and to lead the organization by developing explicit policies based on organizational values and perspectives. Carver stresses that boards should concentrate on external matters, such as setting organizational vision and focussing on organizational outcomes, and delegate administrative and operational decisions to staff. ²⁵ According to Carver, "Leadership through explicit policies offers the opportunity to think big and to lead others to think big.... Work becomes not so much a series of structured mechanical activities as a process of creating and becoming." ²⁶ Policy governance, he argues, is ideal because it uses board time efficiently and effectively, does not require excessive amounts of expertise from board members, and focusses the board's attention on the most important issues, such as developing an organizational vision. ²⁷

The extent to which Carver's Policy Governance® is used in co-ops is not known, although it appears that some food co-ops and credit unions follow this model.²⁸ According to Hoyt, the Carver model has significantly contributed to our understanding of co-op governance:

While there is much debate about Carver's Policy model and whether it actually achieves the promises made for it, Carver has contributed tremendously to our thinking about the board's work. He has developed a clear and memorable description of the board's job and has suggested a process for getting that job done. Carver's work provides a giant leap forward in creating a conceptual framework for directors into which they can put all those lists of ... board roles and responsibilities.²⁹

On the other hand, critics of Policy Governance® claim that its "one-size-fits-all" approach may not be well suited for all types of organizations, especially small ones, and that it is too complex, making it difficult and time consuming to learn and implement.³⁰

Integrated Governance Models

In addition to the critiques of individual theories of governance, some scholars are critical of the level of knowledge about co-op governance in general. For example, in his work on the duties of co-op directors, Axworthy states:

While a good deal of research has been carried out on the duties of directors of corporations, very little has been written on the specific question of co-operative directors' duties. An issue arises as to whether this research on private corporation directors can be applied to the co-op context. The conventional wisdom is that the duties are essentially the same.³¹

Axworthy lists four fundamental differences between co-ops and corporations and suggests that these differences may impact how directors perceive their role. Unlike private corporations, co-ops are member-owned; they do not exist solely for the purpose of making profit; they are democratically controlled; and their directors are elected and not necessarily versed in business.³² According to this view, governance approaches developed with the corporate sector in mind may be inappropriate for the co-op context.

Cornforth and Spear provide a similar assessment of works on co-op governance, arguing that existing theories applied to the co-op context are partial and incomplete. The authors emphasize the need for an integrative approach that draws from existing theories and recognizes the complexity of governance. Cornforth, for example, states:

[T]aken individually the different theories are rather one-dimensional, only illuminating a particular aspect of the board's role. This has led to calls for a new framework that can help to integrate the insights of these different perspectives.... [R]ather than choose between these different theories we need to find a way of drawing on the different insights they offer....

[T]aken together, these theories are helpful in highlighting some of the important tensions and paradoxes that boards face, and which they must find ways of managing if they are to be successful.³³

He discusses the tensions and paradoxes between the elected lay board and the need for skilled and competent board members; the need for the board to control management while working collaboratively and co-operatively together; and the need to be accountable to members as well as other important stakeholders.³⁴

Co-op Governance Mechanisms: External, Intermediate, and Internal

The remainder of this review adopts a modified version of the conceptual framework used by the Confederation of Finnish Cooperatives in their work *Corporate Governance* and *Management Control in Cooperatives*.³⁵ The following sections focus on specific co-op governance structures and practices, which are placed in one of three categories: external, intermediate, and internal governance mechanisms. This conceptual framework provides a way of thinking about governance in relation to the special character of co-operatives, outlining three distinct but related categories that comprise the full range of governance activities in co-operative organizations.

External Governance Mechanisms

External governance mechanisms are those structures and practices that set the parameters within which the co-op must operate, such as legislative and regulatory frameworks. Credit unions in Canada are regulated at the provincial level. For credit unions in Saskatchewan, this includes provincial legislation and regulation as well as the rules and regulations set out by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation, including the Standards of Sound Business Practices and organizational by-laws. While an in-depth review of credit union legislation and regulations is beyond the scope of this review, it is important to recognize the important role that regulations and rules have in shaping credit union governance structures and practices.

Intermediate Governance Mechanisms

Intermediate governance mechanisms are the structures and practices that facilitate member engagement and participation in the governance system, such as co-op bylaws, electoral and representative structures, and communication practices. The issues of member engagement and participation are related to the practice of democracy and

the relationship between members and their co-ops. In this context, it is useful to review some of the current thinking around co-op democracy and member engagement and participation.

Democracy is a defining feature of co-operative organizations.³⁶ Co-op values and principles help answer questions about how co-ops should behave and what kinds of democratic structures they should have. However, as Brett Fairbairn importantly notes in his work *Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition*, co-ops that focus solely on democratic structure may be missing the point:

One common way of seeing co-operatives is to think of them as businesses like others, except that they have a democratic member-control structure. The structure, in this view, makes the co-op. The problem with considering only a structural view is that it is ultimately unsatisfying. Why do the members have a democratic control structure, if the business is no different from other businesses? Can a democratic control structure be an end in itself, worth the effort of creating a co-operative? Would it not be more efficient to deliver the same services without the apparatus of member control? Such questions are often asked by those who have doubts about the co-operative model.³⁷

Fairbairn introduces a relationships-based view of co-ops that focusses on establishing, developing, and maintaining a strong relationship between members and their co-ops.³⁸

Fairbairn provides three concepts to help us think about building strong relationships between members and their co-ops. The first concept is *linkage with members*.³⁹ While co-ops must meet the needs of their members, members must also *perceive* that their co-op is meeting their needs.⁴⁰ The second concept is *transparency*.⁴¹ Transparency requires that members understand the co-op, the industry within which the co-op is situated, and how the co-op benefits them within this context.⁴² According to Fairbairn, this "is the root of member loyalty."⁴³ The third concept is *cognition*.⁴⁴ Co-ops must recognize and adapt to changes in their memberships, industries, and environments.⁴⁵ To do this, they must collect and analyze information, be willing to revise and revisit organizational objectives, and promote and encourage innovation within the organization.⁴⁶ This will not only help co-ops remain relevant to their members but also assist them in maintaining viable economic organizations.

Importantly, Fairbairn stresses that co-ops can build strong relationships with their members in many ways, including "the operational side of things, by shared values and understandings, by products and communication."⁴⁷ Co-ops also build strong relationships with their members through democratic practice, which is the focus here.

There are two broad categories of democratic structures that co-ops use to this end: representative and participatory structures. Representative structures give individuals authority to make decisions on behalf of members, but also hold them to account. Proponents of representative democracy argue that it is an efficient, effective, and practical decision-making method, particularly for large-scale organizations. Participatory structures, on the other hand, occasionally call upon members to make decisions or, at the very least, express their views and opinions. These structures assume that members want to participate. Those in favour of this model argue that participatory practices transform competition and conflict among groups to collaboration and co-operation. From this perspective, democracy offers both a decision-making method and a transformative activity that promotes the development of human capacity and co-operation among competing groups.

In practice, the democratic structures of each school of thought exist side by side in co-operative organizations. They play equally important roles in establishing meaningful opportunities for members to participate in the decision-making process and thus in the governance of their co-operative. The next section reviews four key intermediate governance mechanisms, which include both representative and participatory structures — control structures, participation in the AGM and elections, membership committees, and communication.

Control Structures

Control structures determine how representatives are selected, who will serve in representative bodies, and to some extent, how much power representatives have. We review three basic types of control structures used in credit unions and discuss some additional considerations for large co-operatives. First, in *centralized control structures*, credit union members themselves elect individuals to the board of directors. Centralized control structures are simple, straightforward, and easy to understand. As well, members have direct access to the board of directors, thereby decreasing the distance between members and the credit union's central decision-making body. On the other hand, centralized control structures typically do not result in high levels of voter turnout at election time. Finally, this structure does not provide a training ground for future board members.

Second, in a *delegate control structure*, members elect delegates on an at-large or regional basis, after which delegates elect a board of directors on an at-large or regional basis. This structure tends to facilitate more member involvement, spreads control over a wide range of members, and increases opportunities for leadership training and development

for future board members.⁵³ At the same time, delegate control structures limit members' access to the board, require more organizational resources to uphold, and are more complex and difficult for members to understand.⁵⁴

Third, the *constituency control structure* is a variation of the centralized control structure. Members directly elect individuals to the board, but on a regional (or district) basis. This structure emphasizes local identity and creates closer relationships between members and their representatives because they are more likely to be known by one another.⁵⁵ And like the delegate control structure, it tends to facilitate greater member participation and spreads control over a broad range of members.⁵⁶ However, constituency control structures are more complex and may be more difficult for members to understand when compared to the centralized model. This structure may also limit members' access to the board, require greater organizational resources to maintain, and over-emphasize local concerns at the expense of organizational needs.⁵⁷

No one control structure is inherently superior; each model emphasizes certain values that may or may not be important to a particular organization. Delegate and constituency control structures, for example, emphasize local identity and control, while centralized control structures stress organizational identity. However, as Gillian Butler points out in "Designing Membership Structures for Large Agricultural Co-operatives," delegate and constituency control structures may have distinct advantages over centralized controls structures in large co-operatives. As co-ops become larger, she explains, the size of their bureaucracy increases and members are less likely to know each other or to communicate with management. Increases in organizational size are often associated with increases in member diversity and organizational complexity, making it more difficult for the co-op to meet the needs of all members. As a result, members may lose their sense of belonging and desire to participate in the co-op's affairs, thereby decreasing the level of member control over the organization. Nevertheless, Butler argues that with appropriate changes to the control structure, members can maintain control over their co-op:

In cases where the membership structure has remained simple while the cooperative has grown, there has been member discontent or an expressed need by management for an increased inflow of information from the membership. In some relatively large co-operatives, however, well-developed membership structures provide multiple mechanisms for member control.⁶²

The author highlights a number of factors to consider in the design of membership

structures, including membership diversity, delegation, and decentralization. As a co-op increases in size, it is likely that its membership will become more diverse. Butler highlights the need for accurate demographic information about members; this is the starting point for co-ops to understand who their members are and for designing appropriate membership structures. She explains:

Membership information is crucial to the design of membership structures because an effective representative system needs to represent the relevant differences between members, the differences that are likely to give them different needs for co-operative goods and services.... A co-operative can remain responsive to the needs of its members only if it is aware of what those needs are. Those needs will be expressed through the organizations' voting structures only if those structures have a base of representation that reflects the differing needs of its members.⁶³

With this in mind, Butler urges co-ops to look at membership diversity in terms of communities and individuals.

According to Pattison, "Little work has been done on community heterogeneity and its impact on co-operatives and co-operative membership. As co-ops become more regional, community differences will have a greater influence on how the co-operative operates."64 Communities may differ in size, socio-economic characteristics, historical experiences, or values, to name only a few.65 One study comparing a rural and an urban credit union supports the argument that differences among communities are important for multibranch co-ops. In their study "Governance and Social Cohesion in Credit Unions: A Rural and an Urban Acadian Credit Union in New Brunswick (Canada)," Chouinard, Desjardins, and Forgues found that members of the rural credit union expected the organization to play a leading role in community economic development initiatives because it was the most significant economic institution in the community. 66 On the other hand, because there were several organizations involved in community economic development initiatives in the urban community, members of the urban credit union expected it to develop a niche market and compete strongly with its competitors.⁶⁷ This study demonstrated that different communities might have different expectations about the role of the credit union in their own area.

In addition, Butler points out that this is a practical and economical way for dividing membership. In multibranch co-ops, members may find it more convenient and less costly to participate in member meetings held at a local venue as opposed to a centralized

location.⁶⁸ As well, members may be more inclined to speak if they are familiar with those around them.⁶⁹ Finally, the behaviour of credit unions suggests that different geographic communities have different needs and wants. For example, after a series of mergers, Affinity Credit Union has members from several geographic regions throughout the Province of Saskatchewan and divides its governance structure along eight district boundaries, seven of which are geographically determined.⁷⁰

Co-ops should also consider other relevant differences among their members.⁷¹ Existing research reveals that major demographic groups, such as women, Aboriginal people, ethnic and visible minorities, youth, and people with disabilities are under-represented in Canadian co-operatives. For example, a survey conducted by the Canadian Co-operative Association in 1997 revealed that women comprised only 16.2 percent of co-operative board members in Canada.⁷² In a more recent study, "Leadership and Diversity: A Study of Demographic and Attitudinal Homogeneity in Saskatchewan's Credit Union Governance Groups," Cristine de Clercy and Lou Hammond Ketilson found that credit union leadership structures did not reflect the demographic composition of the Saskatchewan population.⁷³ Kim Brown argues that co-operative representational structures should reflect the demographic composition of their memberships for a number of significant reasons:

- it is consistent with social justice values of equality and equity
- co-operatives are democratic organizations and all members should have an equal opportunity to serve in leadership positions
- the inclusion of diverse views and perspectives in the decision-making process improves the quality of decisions made
- it enables co-operatives to identify and respond to members' needs and wants easily and efficiently⁷⁴

There are many ways to incorporate diversity into co-op decision-making processes. While the issue of diversity receives much attention with respect to board membership, diverse views can also be incorporated through the *decentralization* and *delegation* of decision-making power. The concepts of delegation and decentralization are discussed together because they are closely linked. Although both concepts concern the dispersal of decision-making power among a number of representative bodies, delegation refers to its dispersal among various decision-making levels, whereas decentralization refers to its dispersal among various constituencies. An example of delegation is the implementation of a delegate body of representatives, while an example of decentralization is the implementation of local branch committees with some degree of decision-making power.

The literature on co-operative democratic structures identifies several merits of delegate and decentralized representative structures. First, according to Butler, delegation and decentralization improve the efficiency of decision making by including more individuals in the process and limiting the number of decisions any one group must make. Small boards of directors overseeing large, complex co-operatives may not have sufficient time to adequately consider all relevant issues. As a result, they may end up delegating important board decisions to management, or making poor decisions. By increasing the number of individuals in the process, the co-operative increases its capacity to process information and make well-informed decisions.

Second, delegate and decentralized control structures help facilitate member participation in co-operative affairs. In her presentation "Co-operation, Federation, and Representation," Cristine de Clercy argued that decentralization provides meaningful member participation by strengthening unity among local communities while maintaining local power and responsibility.⁷⁸ In his study of the Prince Albert Co-operative Association, Pattison found that the delegate body was an important forum where representatives from local co-op branches could share common experiences with one another, learn about other communities, and build and maintain trust among the different communities.⁷⁹ Finally, in their study of English co-operatives in the 1950s, Ostergaard and Hasley found that local committees that had a decision-making role were more successful than those that had only a consultative or advisory role.⁸⁰

While some degree of decentralization may be desirable for large co-ops, many also want to consider how they will facilitate cohesion and unity within the co-operative. De Clercy warns that delegates may have multiple and, at times, conflicting identities if they are elected by local constituents but are expected to focus on the organization as a whole. The experience of one British Columbia credit union illustrates this concern. Coast Capital Savings (CCS) Credit Union, a large, multibranch credit union serving the Greater Vancouver Area and Vancouver Island residents was formed out of a series of mergers between Richmond Savings, Pacific Coast Savings, and Surrey Metro Savings credit unions. To ensure that both mainland (Richmond and Surrey) and island (Pacific Coast) views were represented at the board level, the board of directors adopted a Regional Representation Policy, which ensured that at least eight board members were from the mainland and at least four were from the island. However, in September 2005 — two and a half years after the implementation of the policy — the board rescinded it:

The board discussed the need for the Regional Representation Policy now that the Candidate Endorsement Policy includes a requirement for regional knowledge and expertise on the board. It was noted that the policy met the needs of the board during transition (from many credit unions to one credit union) but now fosters division rather than adding value.⁸²

It was believed that the goal of ensuring regional representation was met through the Candidate Endorsement Policy and that the Regional Representation Policy was detrimental to organizational unity.

Finally, an important part of a co-op's representative structure is the manner in which voting occurs. Co-operatives use two main types of voting structures: at-large and regional. The former are often used in centralized control structures, while the latter are typically used in co-operatives with delegate and constituency control structures. In at-large voting, members vote for any candidate, regardless of where both the member and the candidate reside. In contrast, regional voting restricts members to voting for candidates who reside in their constituency. Some credit unions have developed unique voting structures. While still using a constituency control structure, for example, CCS employed an at-large voting structure in which the candidates who received the most votes in a particular constituency were awarded a board seat, even through they may not have received the most votes overall. This was a way to ensure that members could vote for their candidate of choice, while at the same time guaranteeing that both mainland and island members were represented proportionally on the board.

In summary, there are several ways in which co-operative organizations can shape their control and voting structures, with each having its advantages and disadvantages. Co-operatives can use organizational values and needs to guide them in choosing their control and voting structures. It is also important to recognize that these structures are only part of the democratic equation. Organizational values and needs not reflected through control and voting structures may be addressed in different ways, such as through the AGM, member committees, and communication.

Member Participation in AGM and Elections

The AGM offers an important means through which members and the credit union can communicate with one another. AGMs offer members opportunities to voice their concerns, learn about the co-op and its activities, and learn about and vote for board candidates. However, many co-ops find it difficult to facilitate member participation through

AGMs. In 2004, the Canadian Co-operative Association (CCA) reported that 35.4 percent of co-ops had fewer than 20 percent of their membership at the AGM.⁸³ CCA also found that large, geographically widespread co-ops, as well as those that were located in urban centres, had lower member participation at AGMs than their smaller and rural counterparts.⁸⁴

Co-operatives often use incentives to increase member participation at AGMs, including the provision of meals, door prizes, and guest speakers, all with varying degrees of success. Nevertheless, CCA and Brown Governance note that participation in many community activities — not just co-op—based activities — have decreased over the past few decades. In the end, weak participation rates at co-op AGMs may not be an ideal indicator for measuring the strength of member relation activities. Co-ops may want to consider engaging members in other ways in order to fulfil some of the functions that AGMs have satisfied in the past. For example, some co-ops have implemented proxy voting to increase member participation in board elections, particularly in geographically dispersed memberships. Although proxy voting may be viewed by some as decreasing the influence of engaged members, others argue that it increases democratic participation by accommodating those who may not find participation at the AGM conducive to their situation.

Communication

Co-ops and credit unions employ a number of mechanisms to facilitate communication with their members. Some popular methods include member meetings (other than the AGM), focus groups, site visits by directors and staff, comment/suggestion boxes, newsletters, and websites. CCA and Brown Governance found that large and geographically dispersed credit unions were more likely to employ member surveys, member meetings, and focus groups. ⁸⁶ In his study on the Prince Albert Co-op Association, Pattison found that an increase in organizational size had no effect on member identification with the co-op. ⁸⁷ As long as members had strong communication and frequent contact with their local branch, the community continued to identify with the co-op. This suggests that strong communication and a local co-op presence help facilitate and maintain member loyalty and identification with their co-op, even as membership size and geographic scope increase.

In summary, intermediate governance mechanisms are the structures and practices that facilitate member participation and engagement in co-op democratic processes; they include co-op control structures, AGMs, and communication opportunities. We identified three control structures: centralized, delegate, and constituency. Each model emphasizes

particular values, some of which will be more or less pertinent to individual credit unions. Some key factors to consider in designing a control structure include membership composition, decentralization and delegation, and voting structures. This section also addressed the role of AGMs and communication practices in co-operatives.

Internal Governance Mechanisms

Internal governance mechanisms fall under the third set of co-op governance activities. They are the governance structures and practices that help the board of directors achieve its objectives and fulfil its responsibilities. Most of the prescriptive literature on co-operative governance deals with these types of mechanisms. This section has three main parts. First, we discuss the key features of board structure, including board size, committees, and director term and tenure limits. Second, we examine issues of board development, including director recruitment, director education, and board evaluation. Finally, we review the issue of board dynamics and consider best practices for establishing an inclusive and cohesive board.

Board Structure

Board Size: According to CCA and Brown Governance, the average credit union board in Canada has 8.2 directors. 88 Best practices literature suggests that boards should have between five and fifteen members, although between nine and thirteen board members is often considered optimal. Some factors likely to impact the number of board members are organizational size, complexity, and age. 89 There are some risks thought to be associated with boards that are too small: they may lack diverse viewpoints, independent thought, and sufficient deliberation. As well, they may underuse committees due to the lack of board members capable of serving on them. 90 On the other hand, boards that are too large risk a lack of active participation by all members or the possibility of unruly meetings. It is important to keep in mind that best practices and guidelines aim to help boards avoid such pitfalls and are not ends in themselves. Credit union boards may want to find a balance between meeting organizational needs and following best practices and guidelines.

<u>Board Committees</u>: The main role of board committees is to work on the board's behalf. To this end, committees often draft policies for board approval, oversee and review management in specific areas, and ensure compliance with legal/regulatory standards and obligations. There has been little research on credit union or co-op board committees. However, the 2004 CCA and Brown Governance survey of credit unions in Canada sheds

some light on the use of particular board committees by Canadian credit unions as well as corporate organizations. Those most widely used by credit union boards are audit and/or finance (75 percent), nominating (60 percent), and executive (46 percent). In contrast, the most widely used board committees in the corporate sector are audit, compensation/HR, and governance. These are what David Brown, CEO of Brown Governance, calls the core committees in corporate governance. In 2003, fewer than 20 percent of credit unions had governance committees. Hall While executive committees are frequently used in the credit union sector, only 9 percent of corporate boards reported using one. Brown explains, the corporate model of governance — largely based on guidelines found in *Cadbury, Dey* and *Sarbanes-Oxley** — focusses on issues of director responsibility and liability. While it is believed that credit unions in Canada are moving towards the corporate model, there are few statistics on current national trends regarding credit union board committees.

The best practices literature on credit union board committees offers some useful guidelines. First, the number of board committees will depend on several factors, including provincial legislation, organizational size, and governance approach. In Saskatchewan, for example, credit unions are required by law to have at least two committees: an audit committee and a conduct review committee. Second, credit unions that follow the Carver model of Policy Governance ® may opt for fewer board committees. Carver believes that boards should have as few committees as possible to ensure full board ownership and responsibility for all board decisions. While some may not feel as strongly as Carver regarding the number of board committees, many writers warn against having an unnecessary number of them. Finally, Brown and CCA found that large credit unions were less likely than small ones to use committees. The authors note that this is surprising, given the fact that large organizations tend to be more complex and are more likely to warrant the use of committees.

CCA investigated the merits and disadvantages of executive committees in 2003. Executive committees help the board complete its work by coming together between board meetings if required, addressing sensitive matters that are dealt with more easily in small

^{*} Britain's Cadbury Report, Canada's Dey Report, and the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act are regarded by many as seminal governance documents. The Cadbury Committee, *Report on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance* (London, 1992); Toronto Stock Exchange, *Corporate Governance Guidelines* (Toronto, 1994). The Sarbanes-Oxley Act is an amendment to the U.S. federal law (Criminal Code) passed by Congress in July 2002. Its provisions have been adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ, and securities regulators worldwide.

groups (i.e., personnel issues), and acting as a sounding board for the CEO before he/she addresses the board as a whole.⁹⁹ On the other hand, executive committees also risk creating two classes of board members and becoming a *de facto* board. In her case study of Coast Capital Savings, Brown found that the abolition of the executive committee resulted in a more inclusive and open decision-making process on the board.¹⁰⁰ CCA notes that although the use of executive committees among credit unions has declined over the years, it remains a relatively popular practice for credit unions in Canada.

Terms and Tenure: The issue of director terms and tenure often arises in discussions of board renewal and stable turnover. Practitioners and researchers recognize the need to incorporate fresh ideas and new perspectives as well as board experience in the decision-making process. In most credit unions in Canada (80 percent), directors are elected for three-year terms, ¹⁰¹ which are typically staggered to ensure some degree of continuity on the board from year to year. ¹⁰² A more serious debate arises around the issue of director tenure limits — the length of time, or number of terms, a director may serve before being required to step down. Approximately 70 percent of credit unions in Canada have no limit to the number of terms a director may serve. ¹⁰³

Some argue that tenure limits are ineffective tools for achieving better board performance through director turnover. Researchers on board diversity, however, suggest that tenure limits can successfully facilitate the participation of under-represented groups on the board. Tenure limits ensure that long-time board members step down, which creates opportunities for members of under-represented groups to join the board. The combination of tenure limits with strong and pro-active recruitment strategies is believed to be particularly effective in facilitating the representation of women, visible minorities, and members of other under-represented groups. 105

Board Development

Board development refers to building a board of directors that is capable of carrying out its roles and responsibilities in an effective and efficient manner. There are three key components to board development: recruitment, education, and evaluation.

<u>Director Recruitment:</u> Most credit unions have some method for recruiting board members, whether through formal or informal means. Best practices literature tends to highlight the importance of formalized recruitment strategies and processes. Some of the most celebrated strategies and processes include: building a demographic profile of the board; identifying gaps in skills, knowledge, expertise, or demographic characteristics and

communicating these gaps to members; staging information sessions outlining the roles and responsibilities of board members; conducting interviews with potential candidates; and having existing directors who are not up for re-election endorse certain candidates prior to board elections. In 2008, Coast Capital Savings received CCA's Innovations in Co-operative Governance Award for its selection and recruitment of potential directors. CCS's recruitment strategy includes all of the formal recruitment practices identified above. 106

In addition to formal processes, credit unions often use informal means to recruit potential board members, including conversations among board members, staff, and members, and invitations to put one's name forward for election. In many cases, credit unions use a combination of both recruitment practices to identify potential candidates.

Some successful recruitment practices used to acquire specific skills, knowledge, experience, and demographic characteristics focus more on the way in which recruitment is carried out and less on whether it is a formalized practice. First, existing groups such as local member relations committees can serve as promising pools for potential board members. These committees are often comprised of volunteer-oriented and community-minded members who have some understanding of the co-op's affairs. Further, this practice offers co-ops the opportunity to "grow their own," actively developing the skills and capacities of existing volunteers. Alden argues that making board member recruitment a continuous and ongoing focus, as opposed to an *ad hoc* process, increases the chances of identifying good board candidates. 108

Finally, in her study of women's representation on credit union boards, Brown found that pro-active, deliberate, and open recruitment practices were successful in achieving board diversity with respect to skill and gender representation. Pro-active recruitment may require nominations committees to go beyond "the usual suspects" and make a concerted effort to approach members of under-represented groups. In their study titled "Social Diversity within Nonprofit Boards: Members' Views on Status and Issues," Daley and Marsiglia note that boards should not "just let it happen" when it comes to achieving social diversity; instead, they need to think about recruiting under-represented groups in a systemic and deliberate fashion. ¹⁰⁹

<u>Director Training and Education</u>: Director education is relevant for all directors, regardless of their skills, expertise, or experience. One of the first educational experiences that many directors have is an orientation exercise as a new member of the board. Director

orientation introduces new directors to the co-op's affairs and other board members. Like director recruitment practices, there are both formal and informal director orientation practices. Formal director orientation sessions usually consist of the new member meeting with the CEO and board chair to review important laws, regulations, policies, ongoing projects, and board practices. In their study, CCA and Brown Governance found that approximately half of credit unions surveyed had formal director orientation practices for new members. ¹¹⁰ Informal practices may include social gatherings and conversations among board members.

Hoyt argues that director orientation is an effective and efficient way for new board members to learn key board practices, processes, and policies. 111 She also suggests that boards may designate experienced board members as mentors who can guide new members through their first few board meetings. According to CCA and Brown Governance, formal orientation strategies are useful in allowing new directors to go over vast amounts of material and ask questions. This is particularly important as director responsibilties grow within the increasingly complex regulatory regime in which credit unions find themselves. 112 In his 2007 study on board development, Brown found that the provision of director orientation for new members positively influenced the perception of board competency among board members. 113

The literature on board development identifies ongoing director training and education as critical for the success of credit union boards. CCA and Brown Governance found that the median expenditure on director education and training among credit unions is approximately \$3,000 annually, only 0.1 percent of median revenues, ¹¹⁴ a relatively small investment for something so significant to organizational performance. The authors note that the Credit Union Director Achievement (CUDA) program is largely responsible for the success of the credit union system in Canada.

Although most credit unions offer CUDA courses to their board members as a voluntary option, 22 percent of credit unions require directors to attend at least some CUDA courses. Hoyt contends that boards should demonstrate their commitment to director training and education by allocating the financial and time resources that would allow directors to take advantage of such opportunities. She also argues that training and education activities should aim to develop individual and group capacity in strategic areas. This can be achieved through the development of annual learning plans. Finally, Hoyt notes that director training and education should be available in various formats such as

workshops, guest speakers, conferences, seminars, Internet courses, in-house training, and a reference library of books, magazines, and videos.¹¹⁸

<u>Board Evaluation</u>: Board evaluation is the least practiced of the three key components of board development. There are few research studies that examine the impact of board evaluation. Although some boards use director attendance at committee and board meetings as one measure of performance, few boards engage in formal, regular evaluation exercises. Brown found that the presence of board evaluations did not influence the perception of board performance, which suggests that board members may see little value to board evaluation practices. ¹²⁰

Some prescriptive materials on credit union governance, however, view board evaluations as a key aspect of board development and learning. Board evaluations usually consist of a review of overall board performance, although some suggest that individual self-assessments are useful in that they facilitate self-reflection. The evaluation of individual board members by their peers is discouraged, as the ultimate goal of board evaluations is to assess group, rather than individual, performance. According to proponents of board evaluations, this practice helps refresh board members' understanding of the board's role and responsibilities; identifies areas for improvement; develops a shared understanding of "good governance" among directors; and serves as a useful tool for nominating committees in their recruitment efforts. The evaluations usually consists of a review of overall board performance, although some suggest that individual self-assessments are useful tool for nominating committees in their recruitment efforts.

Board Dynamics

Board dynamics refers to the way in which board members interact with one another. Once a board achieves success in recruiting and building a skilled, knowledgeable, and demographically diverse board, the next step is to make board decisions in an effective, efficient, and inclusive manner. This helps ensure that board decisions are the result of vigorous, yet respectful, debate, and that the views of various stakeholders are included in the decision-making process. As well, board members contribute their time with the expectation that their participation will be meaningful in some way. In their work, "Understanding the Dynamics of Diversity within Nonprofit Boards," Daley and Angulo note that if board members feel they are unable to contribute, they are not likely to return for another term. ¹²³

While there is a large body of literature on the topic of organizational culture and group interaction, this review focusses on some key aspects of board dynamics. First, inclusive decision making requires board members to be aware of the language that is

used in board discussions. Language can be either a unifying or dividing force. Daley and Angulo note, for example, that describing board decisions as group decisions, regardless of any prior disagreements, helps reassure members that they can speak their minds without fearing that they will be singled out as dissenters. On the other hand, the use of sport analogies to describe board dynamics or processes may exclude some members who are not familiar with sporting terms.¹²⁴

Second, organizational culture plays a critical role in the way board members interact with one another. Daley and Angulo describe organizational culture "as coherent patterns of assumptions that prove useful in meeting organizational needs and that are taught to new members as correct ways to perceive, think, feel, and act." Organizational culture can also have a positive or negative impact on board dynamics. For instance, the board may have established a strong understanding among its members that "hot issues" are to be discussed behind closed doors only and never in the public arena. This helps reinforce trust and unity among board members. On the other hand, a board that does not tolerate or take seriously alternative or minority views may neglect important opinions and stifle debate at the board table. 126

Finally, in their article "Social Diversity within Nonprofit Boards: Members' Views on Status and Issues," Daley and Marsiglia discuss the importance of board leadership for establishing an inclusive environment for all members, particularly those who are new to the organization. According to the authors, board leaders (most often the chair) should stop and ask for clarification on a topic if they sense that some board members may not understand the issue at hand. This is particularly important for boards that have many or several long-time board members who may not need additional information to participate in the discussion. For some boards, the desire to get through meetings quickly is obvious, which, in turn, may make it difficult or uncomfortable for new members to ask questions. 128

In summary, internal governance mechanisms are those structures and practices that help the board fulfil its roles and responsibilities. Industry best practices offer some guidance for credit unions in determining board structures, such as board size, committees, and director terms and tenure. Literature on board development focusses on director recruitment, director education, and board evaluation as tools to build and maintain effective, diverse, and competent boards. The final part discussed the issue of board dynamics and the need for boards to foster inclusive and cohesive decision-making processes.

SECTION III

Research Results and Recommendations

The following section provides a review of the information gathered through the in-depth interviews and focus groups. The review utilizes an analytical framework developed in Section II. The analysis is divided into two parts. The first examines Advantage Credit Union's (ACU) intermediate governance mechanisms. As discussed above, these are the means through which credit unions practice democracy, engage members, and facilitate member participation in the organization's affairs. We studied three ACU intermediate governance mechanisms: control structures (including member relations committees), AGMs, and communication methods. Concepts discussed in the literature review such as member linkage, engagement, and participation guide the analysis of ACU's intermediate governance mechanisms.

The second part of this analysis looks at ACU's internal governance mechanisms, which were defined as the means by which the board fulfils its roles and responsibilities. We examined five key internal governance mechanisms of ACU's board. The first two address board leadership and board-management relations. The remaining three include ACU board structure, board development practices, and board dynamics. We used the literature on governance theories and approaches, as well as industry best practices, to guide this part of the analysis.

Intermediate Governance Mechanisms

Control Structures

Control structures determine how representatives are selected, who will serve in representative bodies, and how much power representatives have. ACU has two key control structures: constituency-based representation for the board of directors and local member relations committees (MRCs). ACU has a constituency-based model of branch and regional

representation. Fourteen board members represent seventeen communities, with nine communities currently sharing a board member with at least one other community. Only Melfort and St. Brieux have more than one representative. Board members are elected by the members in the constituency in which they run. Given the relationship between the representative model and the size of the board of directors, the results regarding the constituency-based model of ACU's representational structure are presented below in conjunction with the discussion on board size.

This section presents the results concerning ACU's second control structure, member relations committees. MRCs are local committees elected by the members of their branches. Each year, three members are elected at local information meetings to serve one year on the local MRC. Each MRC is comprised of these three members, the board member for the respective community, and the business relations manager (BRM) at the local branch. Only the three elected MRC members are eligible to vote in committee decisions. Most MRCs meet between three and four times a year. In total, there are seventeen MRCs and fifty-one MRC members.

Results

1) Member relations committees make visible, tangible, and meaningful contributions to local communities on behalf of Advantage Credit Union.

MRCs help develop member loyalty and raise awareness among potential members through various sponsorships and fundraising activities. Examples of local events, organizations, or individuals sponsored by MRCs include: charity barbeques and dinners; scholarships for students; prizes for sporting events or fundraising activities; service clubs; recreational facilities; and cultural organizations (see Table 1, overleaf). First, MRCs often assist local staff to plan, organize, and work charity barbeques, community suppers, or other events that bring out large numbers of people. For example, in Englefeld, the ACU Burger in the Park Day sponsored and organized by the MRC drew more than 150 people. And the Spalding Fall Supper sponsored by the local MRC brought out 275 community members to raise funds for the local bowling alley. One participant noted that those kinds of events put ACU "in the face of people."

Second, MRCs often identify local needs and play important leadership roles in the community economic development of their communities. The contribution of ACU funds to major events, organizations, or facilities sends an important message to local residents that ACU is committed to the development and long-term survival of communities. This

is particularly noticeable in the smaller, rural communities. MRCs have used their funds to fix or maintain community facilities or to leverage additional funding from community members to make a more significant donation to a local organization. In Englefeld, for example, the MRC members used a portion of their budget to start a fund for an air conditioner in the local high school / community hall. Once the project was off the ground, MRC members sought support from the community, and with this additional financial assistance, were able to buy and install the air conditioner that same year. MRCs have also played significant leadership roles in acquiring funding from ACU's corporate sponsorship budget for large-scale community projects. The St. Louis MRC, for instance, applied to ACU's corporate sponsorship fund for \$10,000 to fix the local arena. One participant noted that this was deeply appreciated by community members, adding, "That rink is the life-blood of this small community."

Table 1. Examples of MRC sponsorships, activities, and donations

Highly visible and well-attended community events sponsored by MRCs

- Englefeld Burger in the Park Day: more than 150 people attended; supplies and food were donated by the local MRC
- Spalding Fall Supper: nearly 275 people attended; supplies and food were donated by ACU and profits donated to the local bowling alley
- Candle Lake Welcome to the Lake Day: community event hosted by the local MRC; attracted community members and local and regional media to the event

Community leadership and development

- Englefeld MRC started project to install air conditioning in school gym; according to one participant, "[The initiative] snowballed and [the MRC] got the community involved.... They asked everybody for funding. They put the air conditioner in that summer. It was amazing."
- with the help of local branch staff, the St. Louis MRC was successful in securing an additional \$10,000 of funding from ACU's corporate sponsorship fund to put towards the local arena
- Spalding MRC provided \$1,000 for supplies for the fall supper; this event typically generates approximately \$2,000, all of which is donated to a local organization; in 2008, the local bowling alley was the recipient
 - 2) Member relations committees help develop important linkages and connections between communities and the credit union through local representation.

MRC's ability to facilitate two-way communication between members and Advantage Credit Union was viewed as particularly important for branches that are small or that do not have a director from their community. According to several MRC and board members, the MRC structure effectively demonstrates to local branches that ACU values all of its communities and is committed to serving local needs. For example, one MRC member for the St. Jean Baptiste branch explained the importance of the MRC for communicating the needs of this small branch to the larger organization:

St. Jean Baptiste has so many unique challenges because they are a Francophone branch with bilingual service. As they grow and move to the new branch, it is really important to have ties to the membership. So to have the MRC be able to bring forward issues from the membership to the board and to the credit union as a whole is important. They started out as a small caisse populaire and they don't want to lose those roots and French service.

At the same time, this participant noted that their representative "gives us the perspective of the corporate side about what is feasible as far as working hours.... It makes him easier to work with when he is able to share that information." This open and honest communication between the board and local representatives plays an important role in establishing trust and understanding between local and corporate organizational levels.

3) Member relations committees promote member engagement and participation.

MRC members serve on these local committees for various reasons, including the following:

- to be involved with the credit union
- to learn about the credit union
- to be involved with the community
- to give out money to the community
- to contribute their thoughts and views to the credit union

Some MRC members take on additional work that goes well beyond the typical three to four annual MRC meetings and two joint MRC meetings each year. Some participants who serve on an MRC indicated that they often meet informally and make every effort to attend all credit union events in their community. The MRCs of Candle Lake, Christopher Lake, and Paddockwood developed lists of organizations and proactively contacted them to notify them about the MRC and the funds that were available.

4) Member relations committees increase the "surface area" of Advantage Credit Union representatives in local communities.

MRCs enhance the degree of personal contact between ACU representatives and community members. For example, all MRC members and board members interviewed decided to

run for their position only after a member of their MRC, a board member, or a staff person asked them to put their name forward. In the case of one relatively new member from the immigrant community, living next door to her MRC representative has helped her learn more about the credit union. In turn, she has been a fierce advocate for ACU within the immigrant community in her area:

When they move to this area, most immigrants phone and ask, "What bank do you use?" I just say, "The credit union...." You can go there and talk to them and things will be done, especially when you want to buy cars and houses.... I haven't seen any of the immigrants who asked me about financial advice that haven't opened an account with the credit union.

Finally, one MRC member commented on the value of having people who live in the communities promoting the credit union: "As much as we want to keep our small communities technically advanced — we want that stuff — we also want our credit unions here as much as possible. We have faces and people here that are just as effective as radio. This is your best advertising dollar."

5) Member relations committees help to develop understanding and trust among Advantage Credit Union communities.

A number of MRC members commented on the usefulness of the joint MRC planning and reporting sessions. Members felt that such meetings were useful for learning about what other MRCs were doing and for sharing ideas. For some MRC members, this exercise also builds trust and understanding among the various branches and between the local and corporate levels of Advantage Credit Union. Furthermore, joint meetings are one of the means through which MRC members see their ideas put into action. As one MRC member noted,

One of the best places that the MRC is useful is in the larger meetings where all the MRCs get together and the CEO and other managers discuss things and throw ideas out there. That is probably one of the most beneficial things we do.... There are a lot of good ideas that are generated and they are written down. You see a lot of those ideas being put to use. I think they're listening.

In order to build trust and transparency within the credit union, it is important that members perceive that the credit union is listening to them and acting in their best interest.

6) Although the work that member relations committees do is visible in their communities, they are not as visible as they could be.

While ACU is recognized for its involvement at the local level through sponsorships and donations, many members appear not to be aware of the involvement and contribution

of MRCs to the creation, organization, and sponsorship of local initiatives. Several participants believed that most members in their community did not know about the MRC or who its members were. In addition, all MRC members confirmed that they are rarely contacted, if at all, by local members with concerns, comments, or questions. Furthermore, when asked whether they knew about the MRCs in their communities, most focus group participants did not know about the MRC or who their MRC representatives were either. One focus group participant from Spalding, for example, noted the credit union's support for the fall supper, but she did not know about the MRC, its members, or its role in sponsoring the event.

7) Member relations committees' roles and responsibilities may not be clear to credit union members, MRC members, and business relations managers.

Some MRC members indicated that they would like more information and guidance about what they can do. Although they appear to appreciate flexibility in deciding where MRC funds are allocated, a number of them thought it would be helpful to have a best practices guide or a workshop for MRC members. In some cases, ambiguity about their role may stem from their relationship with the local business relations manager. One MRC member, for example, felt that the local BRM always focussed on funding allocation at MRC meetings and failed to recognize, and allocate time for discussing, the need to share information between the MRC and the director for that region. In another instance, one MRC member wanted better communication between the committee and the local BRM, particularly around where MRC funds were spent (some MRCs give local management authority to allocate small amounts of money without consulting with the committee).

8) Member relations committees have the potential to be fruitful recruitment pools for potential board members.

When adopting the MRC structure, ACU hoped that the MRCs would create pools of potential board members, but according to research participants, no MRC member has ever joined the board after serving on their local member relations committee. It is important to note, however, that the amalgamation process has resulted in a surplus of experienced board members from the previously independent credit unions, and ACU board members have been recruited from this pool. It is believed that in time, the MRCs will serve a more critical board recruitment role.

Importantly, when asked whether they would consider running for the board, only one

of seven MRC members interviewed for this review said No, while all other participants said they would have to think about it and might consider it in the future. Several MRC members noted that they were not clear about what serving on the board would entail and would find it helpful to have more information about board activities and duties. One participant felt that she needed more education before she would feel comfortable running for the board.

Conclusions

Member relations committees make many important contributions to local communities and to Advantage Credit Union by organizing local events and donating to local organizations; providing effective two-way communication between members and the board; enhancing the degree of contact between ACU and community members; and building trust among the many communities served by ACU. At the same time, MRCs are not widely recognized in their communities; they have not yet reached their full potential as recruitment pools for board members; and some MRC members may not fully understand their roles and responsibilities.

Recommendation #1 — Maintain and promote the visibility of MRCs and their members in local branches.

Recommendation #2 — Update MRCs on roles and responsibilities and develop a list of best practices to help guide MRCs in their activities.

Branch Information Meetings and AGMs

Overall, approximately 6.2 percent of members attend their local information meetings, some of which are held in conjunction with Advantage Credit Union's annual general meeting. In 2008, the communities of Gronlid, Englefeld, and Spalding had the highest rates of member participation, with 20.3, 20.7, and 17.1 percent respectively. On the other hand, Melfort, St. Jean Baptiste, and St. Louis branches had the lowest, with 1.1, 2.2, and 3.2 percent respectively. The ACU AGM is held in conjunction with the branch information meeting in a different community each year.

Results

1) Members are aware of branch information meetings and AGMs but rarely attend.

When asked about the ways in which members learn about local meetings, focus group participants indicated their awareness of local meetings and elections and their ability to participate in them; they also said they were well-informed of the place and time of such events. Yet few participants attend their branch information meetings or the AGM. Focus group participants cited several reasons. First, some members felt that, given the existing relationship of open communication between members and local staff, many members would not wait for the AGM to express any concerns they may have about the operation of the credit union. As one participant stated, "If people have a concern, they will probably go to that staff member right away so it is dealt with; they won't stew about it and save it for the AGM." Second, participants also indicated that they would be more interested if it was a more interactive exercise, instead of a formalized meeting.

Participants also commented on what may help to increase participation in branch information meetings and the AGM. Many communities, including Spalding and Engelfeld, which had two of the most well-attended meetings, provide supper for members in order to facilitate their participation. On the other hand, some communities, such as Melfort, did not see the provision of a meal as an effective way to entice members to meetings.

2) Personal and proactive invitations for members constitute an effective strategy to facilitate member participation in AGMs and elections.

Personal contact and invitations to branch information meetings appear to be two of the more successful methods for getting members to attend meetings. According to one focus group participant, "The only time I have ever gone to the AGM is when they called me and told me when the meeting was. I see those things on the statement but you are busy and you just kind of file it away.... They haven't called me for quite a few years." As well, several participants who go to meetings regularly noted that most people in attendance have some personal relationship to board members, MRC members, staff, and/or active members.

Conclusions

Many co-ops and credit unions wonder how to increase member participation in organizational meetings; Advantage Credit Union is no different. Although members

are well informed of their local information meetings and AGMs, few elect to attend. A proactive approach and personal contact and invitation appear to be successful strategies for facilitating the participation of members in organizational meetings.

Recommendation #3 — Encourage local representatives and staff to proactively and personally invite members to local information meetings.

Communication

Advantage Credit Union communicates with its members in a variety of ways. Below is a list of methods identified by research participants.

- ACU newsletters
- community newsletter
- inserts with statement
- · in-branch posters
- ACU flyers
- community flyers
- ACU website
- MRCs
- board members
- verbal communication (staff)
- print communications available in French for Francophone members

Results

1) Members are most likely to approach local staff in order to acquire information or express concerns.

According to focus group participants, local staff — member service representatives (MSR) and business relations managers — are their preferred contacts in the credit union for communication purposes. This is consistent with the experience of BRMs, MRC members, and board members. One BRM, for example, estimated that nearly 90 percent of the feedback he receives from members comes to him through MSRs. Both MRC members and board members said that they were rarely contacted, if at all, by members. One board member, who has served for more than twenty-five years, noted that he has been approached by only three or four members during that time.

Participants identified several reasons for this. Local staff are the most accessible contact for members; typically, members know staff personally and trust that their concerns will be addressed. One focus group participant commented, "[The staff is] always willing to listen, and if somebody has a concern, they are always welcome to go and discuss it. For those people, that is the credit union, so that is where they are going to go if they have any concerns." According to most focus group participants, their concerns are often related to operational issues, for which they would not approach a board member or other elected representative. Participants were confident that local staff would address their concerns and felt comfortable approaching them with any concerns or comments they might have.

2) Effective member relations committees and director communication help build understanding between the board and local communities.

MRCs play an important role in relaying information about the community to the board, and from the board to the community, particularly in instances where the director does not live in the community. First, several MRC members noted that they are committed to their communities; take an active interest in ACU activities; communicate with local staff; and pay attention to how members respond to or perceive their credit union. So, although MRC members are rarely contacted, they are important sources of local knowledge and information about their credit union. Second, MRC members from communities that shared a director with another community felt well-represented by their board members, crediting them for their quality and level of engagement and communication with the communities they represented. When discussing the issue of sharing a board member with a nearby community, for example, one participant commented: "It is working well for us here.... We have a lot in common with (name of community).... Sharing our representative has been no problem at all. (Board member name) has always been very successful at making time and being at meetings."

3) Information is easily accessible for members.

In terms of the credit union's communication with members, most focus group participants found that they were able to access information when and where they wanted or needed it. ACU provides information to members online, in local branches, through the mail, and through personal contact and phone calls. One member greatly appreciated the personal service of having an MSR call her to discuss different options related to her account. Another participant commented that the availability of French newsletters and

posters for Francophone members made them feel more comfortable with the merger decision and demonstrated ACU's commitment to its new branches: "We had some really good response from the newsletters. The newsletters are also distributed in French for our Francophone clients and I know that is definitely appreciated."

Conclusions

ACU has developed strong communication methods at all levels. A sense of trust in local staff makes members feel comfortable discussing issues or concerns. MRCs provide an important venue for dialogue between the board and local communities. Finally, ACU's wide range of communication methods, from online communication to personal phone calls, makes information easily accessible to members.

Internal Governance Mechanisms

Leadership

Results

1) Board members have a consistent and clear understanding of the board's role.

When asked about their role as board members, participants consistently stated that the board's role was to form policy and guide management. As one participant stated,

It is about strategy and overseeing things. I don't believe our place is to get into the operational side. We need to stay out of that. If we hire management, we need to trust that we did a good job in choosing the right management and they, in turn, will go in the direction that we ask them to go.

For some board members, the policy-oriented style of governance was much different from their experience on other credit union boards, many of which frequently dealt with operational issues. Nonetheless, these participants considered ACU's governance model a more effective and more enjoyable approach to governing.

2) Advantage Credit Union annual planning sessions and quarterly reviews effectively help the board identify and meet its objectives.

Each year, ACU's board engages in a strategic planning session that focusses exclusively on setting long-, medium-, and short-term organizational goals. Overall, board members found this exercise useful as it develops a sense of purpose and direction for the board. As

one participant said, "It's a good thing. It keeps everybody focussed. It brings everybody back to the table so we know where we are and where we want to go. This way we can sit down and look at the long term and not just next month." Annual planning sessions are complemented by quarterly reviews that examine how well the board and management are meetings their objectives. This allows the board to make adjustments to its objectives, timelines, and strategies as necessary.

Conclusion

ACU board leadership practices are consistent with industry "best practices" on the role of the board, setting goals, and reviewing progress.

Board-Management Relations

Results

1) The board and management have effectively developed a solid understanding of their respective roles and established a relationship of trust and co-operation.

As discussed above, the board strongly emphasizes the need to focus on policy issues. This contributes to a clear understanding between board and management regarding the roles pertaining to governing and directing the credit union. One participant noted that in order to prevent the board from accidentally encroaching on operational issues or management from getting involved in policy making, the two sides occasionally reflect upon whether they are moving into each other's domain. In addition, all participants felt that the board and management worked co-operatively and collaboratively with one another. According to one participant, there was a conscious and deliberate effort to develop a relationship between the board and management that was based on "open communication, trust, respect, and loyalty." Board members' comments suggest that the effort has met with success. As one board member described the relationship: "It couldn't be any better. It is awesome. You can speak your mind ... there is a bond."

Conclusion

Establishing a well-functioning relationship is one of the most important tasks for both boards and management. The ACU board has developed an exceptional understanding and rapport with management regarding their respective roles and responsibilities as well as their manner of working together.

Board Dynamics

Results

1) Advantage Credit Union board culture encourages and facilitates communication and an environment of respect and cohesion.

Once again, participants were consistent in their views of the working relationship among board members, characterizing it as respectful, open, inclusive, and co-operative. Describing the process and outcome of most board decisions, one participant provided an example of how the relationship among board members has an impact upon decision making: "We discuss an issue in depth until we have figured out collectively what the solution should be.... We almost always get unanimous consent." At the same time, another board member commented on the ability of board members to express themselves freely without fear or apprehension: "We have a very good board in that if you have a problem or question, you should bring it up. Nobody is going to knock you on the head for what you believe." Taken together, these comments suggest that while the board aims for consensus and collective responsibility in decision making, it has created an environment in which different opinions are welcomed and respected.

Conclusion

ACU board members feel comfortable speaking their minds in the open, inclusive, and respectful atmosphere developed by the board. Open and inclusive boards are believed to make more thoughtful and thorough decisions because they can elicit communication and lively discussion.

Board Development

The issue of board development centres around three main activities: director recruitment, director orientation and education, and evaluation.

Recruitment: Board members are elected for three-year terms and there is no limit on the number of terms a board member may serve. Director recruitment is done by local MRCs on an *ad hoc* basis — that is, every three years when their community's board position is up for re-election. In most communities, posters and information about the upcoming election are available in local branches; members may also acquire information from ACU administration through the executive assistant. MRC members are responsible for bringing names forward, although the business relations manager and other directors are often involved as well.

Results

1) Potential candidates are unlikely to run for the board on their own initiative.

Advantage Credit Union has no formal or standardized procedures for recruiting potential directors. Board members, BRMs, and MRC members indicated that, in practice, there is usually little effort made to find additional candidates if the current board member plans to run for re-election. In instances where a board member is retiring, MRCs typically search until they have recruited one candidate who is willing to stand for election. Overall, there is little director turnover and board positions are rarely contested, particularly in small communities. Since 2004, only two out of fifteen board positions up for re-election were contested.

This, in combination with the low rate of director turnover, results in little incentive for MRC members to search for new candidates. Although ACU makes information broadly available to members regarding election processes and practices, board members are typically proactively recruited and asked to serve on the board. In fact, all board and MRC members interviewed for this study were asked and encouraged to let their name stand for election by somebody they knew.

It is important to note once again the unique recruitment dynamic created by recent amalgamations. As individual credit unions have joined the larger organization, existing boards have served as recruitment pools of experienced, committed board members to represent that community on ACU's board of directors. The impact of this phenomenon will likely lessen in the future.

2) Although the board has achieved strong levels of gender and occupational diversity, some groups remain under-represented at the board table.

The level of diversity is one way for credit unions to measure how well they are connecting with the various geographic and demographic groups present in their membership. Advantage Credit Union's constituency-based model ensures the representation of various geographic regions. Women represent 35.7 and 43.1 percent of board membership and MRC membership respectively. Although women are not proportionally represented, this is well above the 12 percent national average of women's representation on credit union and co-operative boards of directors (CCA and Brown Governance). The board has members from a variety of occupational backgrounds, including farmers, teachers, business owners, and accountants. Although there is some cultural diversity — one is a member of the

Francophone community — the board does not have representatives from minority, immigrant, or Aboriginal communities.

According to one participant, the board identified the need to include more young people and communicated this to the MRC responsible for finding a candidate for a vacancy on the board. Although this was not a formal process, the issue of demographic diversity was discussed and brought to the attention of MRC members, who successfully recruited an individual under the age of forty to serve on the board. Still, several board members noted that youth are under-represented and stressed the need to further facilitate the participation of young people in ACU's representative structures.

The introduction of limited terms in some credit unions has proven helpful in creating new opportunities for diverse views and experiences. This practice, however, is not without it detractors. As credit unions have merged and grown in asset size, so too has the complexity of the management issues confronted by board and managers. Some have argued that such conditions create the need for experienced board members, which can only come from multiple terms.

<u>Director Orientation and Education:</u> Director orientation and education processes and practices are often considered "best practices" within the credit union sector. Director orientation plays an important role in bringing new board members up to speed on board practices, processes, and expectations. Director training courses also help people understand their role more clearly, give them confidence to participate in board discussions, and thus enhance the overall competence of the board.

Results

1) Advantage Credit Union's approach to director education successfully contributes to board competence.

New board members meet with the CEO and the board chair to go over their role as a director, the board's role, how meetings are run, and background about the board such as information about other board members. New members are also provided with binders of information to further orient and inform them about board practices. This made one new board member feel more comfortable and confident in his role as a director. It also played a significant role in making him feel more welcome on the board.

Board members were satisfied and pleased with the level of opportunity and encouragement they received from fellow directors and management to attend CUDA training

sessions as well as provincial and national conferences. One board member noted that the board and management also support directors in taking courses not available within the credit union system, yet relevant to credit union business. Although several board members were open to learning new things and more about their role as a director, most were comfortable with their level of knowledge and competence, as well as that of other directors.

One member of ACU's senior management highlighted the issue of increasing regulatory and fiduciary responsibilities for credit union directors. This person felt that a lack of knowledge among board members about these issues may make them wary of making decisions until they have a greater understanding of the issues:

As we become more complex and take on more business ventures, it adds another layer of legal and regulatory pressures for the board, and they have to understand their role. It scares some of them. If it scares them, they will cocoon around us giving them more knowledge so they feel more comfortable. Until they feel comfortable, they will resist change. The risk is that we stop making decisions until we understand that. It is accelerating at a pace greater than we are training them.

When asked about the issue of director education and board competency, however, no board member identified any concerns about regulatory or fiduciary issues. One director was not concerned about issues of liability and legal responsibility: "I think we have adequate protection in our role as long as we follow the guidelines. I am not overly concerned about the liability issue. If you have a good board, it will give pause for sober thought." This suggests that some board members feel confident in the resources available to them and may not share management's concern about the evolving legal and fiduciary responsibilities of board members.

<u>Evaluation</u>: Board evaluation exercises can help the board reflect upon its roles and responsibilities, identify areas for improvement, and develop a plan to enhance board performance. Board evaluation is recognized as a "best practice" for credit union boards and is strongly encouraged in the sector.

Results

1) Although some board members found board and management evaluations to be somewhat difficult and awkward at times, most found the exercise useful.

ACU recently introduced an annual board evaluation process that includes an individual self-assessment, a board assessment, and a chair assessment. The executive assistant con-

solidates the reviews and presents it in aggregate form to board members. The board then builds a director training plan for the following year based on the findings of the self-assessment evaluations. Although some board members found these evaluations somewhat difficult and awkward, most people interviewed for this study found them useful exercises for reflecting upon the board's performance and, more importantly, for identifying future training needs.

Conclusions

The three main components of board development — recruitment, education, and evaluation — ensure that boards are being proactive from the beginning to the end of a director's time on the board. Advantage Credit Union strongly encourages board members to improve their capacities as directors and evaluates itself in order to identify areas for improvement. Existing recruitment practices and low director turnover make it difficult for the board to acquire new members.

Recommendation #4 — Consider the introduction of tenure limits for board members in order to increase diversity.

A common tenure limit is a maximum of three consecutive terms, after which the board member must step down for at least one term before running for the board again.

Recommendation #5 — Develop a proactive recruitment strategy to recruit member relations committee and board members.

Although there are many ways to proactively recruit member relations committee and board members, some "best practices" include the following: start the recruitment process early; identify skill and demographic gaps; provide potential candidates with an information package; look for candidates outside traditional volunteer circles in the community.

Recommendation #6 — Extend a limited amount of training opportunities to member relations committee members who are interested in learning about board activities.

For example, interested MRC members could apply to attend a Credit Union Director Achievement training module or attend a board meeting to learn more about board processes and practices.

Board Size and Regional Representation

As discussed above, the board consists of fourteen directors representing seventeen communities. Although large compared to the 8.2 director average of credit union boards in Canada, ACU's board falls within the parameters of "best practices," but is slightly larger than the preferred size of nine to thirteen (CCA and Brown Governance, 8). Although there is no perfect number of board members, boards that are too small or too large have their challenges. Boards that are too small, for example, sometimes have problems incorporating diversity within board membership. On the other hand, boards that are too large risk a lack of deliberation among board members and unruly board meetings. In addition to these considerations, boards must also identify factors that are important to their governance approach.

Results

1) Large board size does not appear to have negatively impacted the effectiveness or efficiency of Advantage Credit Union board meetings.

Some participants said that board meetings have a tendency to be too lengthy, although this was not believed to be the result of board size but rather the large amount of business to discuss. All board member participants felt that meetings were well run, on topic, and productive. Board members credited this to the strong facilitation skills of the board chair, as well as the distribution of the board package beforehand and the well-organized meeting agenda.

2) Quality of representation has not diminished in communities represented by nonresidential board members.

Nine out of seventeen communities currently share a director with one or two other areas. According to several MRC and board member participants from multibranch regions, they have never heard any complaints from members regarding the lack of board member presence in the community. One board member commented that although he was initially concerned about how members would react to him not residing in the communities he represented, he has not experienced any problems:

I wondered if it would be hard for members to approach me or contact me. But they can get a hold of the manager and they can get a hold of me. There is always a way to get me. So I was questioning that a bit, but it doesn't seem to have caused any issues and I haven't heard anybody complain about it.

Conclusion

Overall, the size of ACU's board does not negatively impact its functionality. According to board members, meetings are run efficiently and effectively and everyone has the opportunity to speak in board discussions. There are some benefits to the board's size: committee work can be delegated among many directors and members are physically close to their community and local MRC. Some participants, however, identified several factors that place financial pressures on the board to reduce its size, including director per diems, mileage, and liability insurance.

Recommendation #7 — Consider reducing board size but maintain the existing Member Relations Committee structure.

MRCs play an important role in developing and maintaining a strong relationship among ACU board members. At the community level, MRCs could continue to make visible and meaningful contributions on behalf of ACU to their communities, communicate the needs of local communities to board members, and promote member engagement and participation. Moreover, although members are likely to continue to communicate primarily with staff, MRC members would also be available to speak with members. And, of course, members could still contact board representatives through telephone or e-mail.

Appendix D offers two options for district-based representation with a reduced board size.

Recommendation #7.1 — Introduce and encourage ways for board members to reduce travel time to and from MRC meetings in distant communities, yet maintain board member–MRC communication.

Each board member would have a unique set of circumstances regarding the geographic scope of, and number of MRCs in, their district. Board representatives and MRCs could

come to an agreement that recognizes the need for board member–MRC contact, but that also considers the time constraints of board members. For example, some multibranch regions currently have joint MRC meetings with two MRCs. For other groups that may wish to have separate MRC meetings, the use of teleconference would reduce travel time for board members.

The introduction of terms limits becomes increasingly important if board size is reduced. In addition to promoting stable board renewal, term limits in multibranch representative structures help to ensure that all communities have regular opportunities to serve on the board. This is particularly important for small communities that share board representation with larger communities.

In-Depth Interview Participant Selection Process

ACU Board President Neal Morton sent a letter to board members, management staff, and MRC members informing them of the governance review project and the possibility that researchers from the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives might contact them to participate in the study. ACU provided researchers with a list of the names of board members, BRM and MRC members, and their respective communities and branches.

The board and researchers identified several characteristics that would ensure diverse geographic and demographic representation in the interview process and then randomly selected interviewees from within these parameters. For example, all females were placed in a separate group from which names were selected at random.

Researchers contacted potential participants and invited them to participate in the study. They conducted a total of eighteen interviews. Below is a breakdown of interviewee characteristics:

- five management members / seven MRC members / six board members
- ten women / eight men
- researchers grouped ACU branches into regions and chose representation from each region
 - four from Region 1 (Watson, Englefeld, Spalding, Naicam, and Lake Lenore)
 - five from Region 2 (St. Brieux, Melfort, Weldon, Kinistino, Gronlid, and Star City)
 - four from Region 3 (Birch Hills, Prince Albert, and St. Louis)
 - four from Region 4 (Christopher Lake, Paddockwood, and Candle Lake)
 - one had no region (senior management)
- urban/rural mix (PA/Melfort considered urban)
- eight from Northgate branches / ten from Advantage branches
- both small and large branches

Interviews took place between 27 October and 17 November 2008 and typically lasted between one and one and a half hours.

Focus Group Selection Process

Once again, the board and researchers identified several geographic and demographic characteristics to ensure a diverse group of participants in the focus group discussions. These included women and men; engaged and nonengaged members; members from urban and rural communities; new and long-time members; youth; and various cultural and linguistic backgrounds.

Business relations managers from all ACU branches provided researchers with the names of five to ten members. From these lists, researchers randomly selected potential focus group participants from within parameters similar to those identified above for interview participants. ACU President Neal Morton sent a letter explaining the governance review and the role of the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, as well as a letter from the Centre providing details about the focus group sessions (date, place, time) to fifteen members from each of the four regions identified above. We expected that approximately eight members from each region would participate. Due to the poor response from Region 3, we cancelled the focus group for this area, but potential participants were invited to take part in the focus group in Region 4.

Three focus groups discussions took place 3–6 November 2008 in the communities of Watson, Melfort, and Prince Albert. All focus groups started at 7:00 pm and lasted approximately two hours.

Voluntary Participation and Confidentiality

Potential interviewees and focus group participants were notified that their participation was completely voluntary; that their comments would be kept confidential; and that any data collected would be presented in aggregate form in order to protect their identities.

Researchers transcribed the interviews and focus group discussions and provided participants with the opportunity to review them and make any changes that they felt necessary.

Appendix B: In-Depth Interview Questions

(Notes in brackets are issues to probe or mention in order to facilitate discussion)

Interview Questions — MRC Members

- 1. Why don't we get started with you telling me a bit about yourself and how you ended up in your position as a member of the MRC? (how you heard about it; were you elected; won by acclamation; how long have you been a member of the MRC)
- 2. Role of MRC in governance structure and process
 - a. In your view, how do members of the MRC serve the membership? (roles and responsibilities; effective; useful; important; etc.)
 - b. In what ways do you work with management and/or the board, if at all? (relationship between branch managers and the board; how they work together; on what kinds of issues)
 - c. How would you characterize the relationship between the MRC and management and/or the board? (co-operative; productive; difficult; etc.)
- 3. Member engagement and board development
 - a. How do you feel about the level of work and responsibility accorded to MRC members? (meaningful work; worthwhile work; reasonable amount of work; what might make it more attractive for people to serve on the MRC, etc.; responsibility sufficient; too much; too little)
 - b. If you were offered opportunities to learn more about serving on the board, would you take advantage of such opportunities? Why or why not? (education; training; opportunities for greater involvement)
 - c. If someone approached you and asked you to run for the board, would you put your name forward for election?

4. Communication

- a. In what ways do the credit union and members communicate with one another? (kinds of communication; how frequent; between whom)
- b. How does the MRC communicate with management and/or the board?

c. What, if anything, could be done to improve communication among the various groups in the credit union? (board; members; MRCs; managers)

5. Representative structure

- a. How do you feel the existing representative structure is working to ensure members' views are taken into account? Some groups to consider:
 - · geographic regions or local communities
 - · urban and rural communities
 - different sized branches
 - women
 - ethnic minorities
 - First Nations and Métis people
 - other
- b. What, if anything, could be done to improve the existing representative structure?
- 6. Summarize discussion. Have I missed anything? Is there anything you think I should have asked but didn't?

Interview Questions — Board Members

1. Why don't we get started with you telling me a bit about yourself and how you ended up in your position as a member of the board? (personal experience with recruitment; why you wanted to serve; what made you decide to run for the board)

2. Leadership

- a. What is (are) the board's main role(s)?
- b. How does the board go about achieving its objectives? (setting strategic direction; overseeing organizational performance; ensuring ethical conduct; is the board successful in achieving its goals? Why or why not? etc.)
- 3. Relationship with management/MRCs
 - a. How would you characterize the relationship between the board and management? (co-operative; collaborative; adversarial; etc.)
 - b. How is the division of labour between the board and management determined? (clarity of roles and responsibilities; clear lines of accountability and responsibility)
 - c. In what ways does the board work with the MRCs, if at all? (do they work together? if so, on what? is this useful and productive?)
- 4. Board structure and board dynamics
 - a. Are you currently sitting on any board committees? If so, which one(s)?
 - b. What role do board committees play in the board's decision-making process?

- (recommend and deliberated; recommend and accepted; level of involvement of non-committee members in decision making; etc.)
- c. How would you characterize board/committee meetings? (productive; functional; efficient; focussed; active participation from all members)
- d. Could you describe the relationship among board members and its effect on the board's ability to meet its objectives? (respectful; inclusive; open; encouraging; cohesive; etc.)

5. Board structure and board development

- a. How, if at all, is the board involved in recruiting potential candidates? (formal; informal; recruitment strategy and practices; recruitment criteria; etc.)
- b. Once board members are elected, in what ways, if any, does the board seek to build director and board competency? (orientation; education; training mandatory or voluntary; director and board evaluation; funds available for addition board training)
- c. What, if anything, could strengthen board competency and performance?

6. Communication

- a. In what ways do the credit union and members communicate with one another? (board; managers; MRCs; kinds of communication; how frequent; to whom and from whom)
- b. What, if anything, could be done to improve communication between the credit union and members?

7. Representative structures

- a. How do you feel the existing representative structure is working to ensure members' views are taken into account? Some groups to consider:
 - geographic regions or local communities
 - urban and rural communities
 - different sized branches
 - women
 - ethnic minorities
 - First Nations and Métis people
 - other
- b. What, if anything, could be done to improve the existing representative structure?
- 8. Summarize discussion. Have I missed anything? Is there something I should have asked but didn't?

Interview Questions — Managers (CEO and Branch Managers)

1. Why don't we get started with you telling me a bit about yourself and how you ended up in your position as a manager?

2. Relationship with board

- a. In what ways do you work with the board, if at all? (relationship between CEO/ branches and board)
- b. How would you characterize your relationship with the board? (co-operative; collaborative; adversarial; etc.)
- c. How is the division of labour between the board and management determined? (clarity of roles and responsibilities; clear lines of accountability and responsibility; ask CEO and branch managers if they work with board on some level)

3. Relationship with MRCs

- a. In what ways do you work with the MRC, if at all? (relationship between branch managers and local MRCs; if and how they work together; on what sorts of issues)
- b. How would you characterize your relationship with the MRC? (collaborative; productive; useful; etc.)

4. Communication

- a. How do the credit union and members communicate with one another? (board, managers, MRCs; kinds of communication; how frequent; between whom)
- b. What, if anything, could be done to improve communication between the credit union and the members?

5. Representative structures

- a. How do you feel the existing representative structure is working to ensure members' views are taken into account? Some groups to consider:
 - geographic regions or local communities
 - urban and rural communities
 - different sized branches
 - women
 - ethnic minorities
 - First Nations and Métis people
 - other
- b. What, if anything, could be done to improve the existing representative structure?
- 6. Summarize discussion. Have I missed anything? Is there something that I should have asked but didn't?

Appendix C: Focus Group Questions

Introductory Questions

(20 minutes — including welcome and explanation of project)

- 1. Tell us your name and something else about yourself.
- 2. What are some of the ways in which members participate in the ACU democratic process? (open question to get people talking about the democratic process and to see what participants perceive as being part of the democratic process)

Elections and AGM

(20–25 minutes)

- 1. A number of different ways have been mentioned. Let's first talk about elections. How do members learn about elections? (get members' perceptions and level of knowledge about the electoral process where, how, and electing whom, board/MRC)
- 2. What are some of the reasons members may or may not participate in electing their credit union representatives? (open up the discussion to talking about why people choose either to participate or not to participate in elections or the AGM)
- 3. What, if anything, could be done to improve member participation at the AGM and in the credit union's elections?

Representative Structure and Elected Positions — MRC and Board of Directors (25–30 minutes)

- 1. How do members learn about opportunities to run for elected positions? (get members' perceptions about recruitment and what sorts of people run for these positions)
- 2. Let's talk about how the existing representative structure (may require some background explanation about the current representative arrangement). How do you feel this arrangement is working to ensure that members' views are taken into account by the credit union's leaders? (first, see what kinds of issues are brought up by members, i.e., geographic representation; large or small branch representation; etc.)

- 3. This is a list of various sorts of membership groups that may need to be represented in the leadership structure. As I read through the list, feel free to comment on how you feel the existing representative structure is working for these groups.
 - urban and rural communities
 - · different sized branches
 - women
 - ethnic minorities
 - First Nations and Métis people
 - other
- 4. What, if anything, could be done to improve the existing representative structure?

Communication

(25-30 minutes)

- 1. Now let's move to the topic of communication. In what ways do the credit union and members communicate with one another? (get perceptions about what kinds of communication exist and to whom the communication is directed i.e., to board, to members, to MRC, to managers; look for things like newsletters, surveys, annual reports, contact information for board members or MRC members, comment cards, concerns and complaint procedures, etc.)
- 2. How are these methods of communication working?
- 3. What, if anything, do you think could be done to make this better?

Wrap Up

(15-20 minutes)

- 1. Let's summarize the key points of this discussion (provide summary). Does this summary sound complete? Do you have anything you want to add or change?
- 2. The goal is to assess how the existing democratic processes are working and to make recommendations to improve this process. Have we missed anything?
- 3. What advice do you have for us?

Appendix D: Potential Models for District-Based Representation

Researchers developed the following two models of district-based representation according to criteria identified by ACU. Both models emphasize the principle of one member, one vote. In both cases, district boundaries were determined by two factors: geographic proximity and member base. The board also indicated that it prefers a board size between nine and twelve as well as an odd number of directors.

Option #1: 11 Representatives

Branch(es)	# of Directors
Melfort	3
Birch Hills	1
Christopher Lake/Candle Lake/Paddockwood	1
St. Louis/St. Jean Baptiste	1
Lake Lenore/Naicam	1
Gronlid/Star City	1
Weldon/Kinistino	1
St. Brieux	1
Spalding/Englefeld/Watson	1

Option #2: 9 Representatives

Branch(es)	# of Directors
Melfort	3
Christopher Lake/Candle Lake/Paddockwood/St. Jean	Baptiste 1
St. Louis/Birch Hills	1
Lake Lenore/Naicam	1
Gronlid/Star City/ Weldon/Kinistino	1
St. Brieux	1
Spalding/Englefeld/Watson	1

Endnotes

- 1. Roger Spear, "Governance in Democratic Member-Based Organisations," *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics* 75, no. 1 (2004): 34.
- 2. Emphasis mine. See, for example, World Council of Credit Unions (WOCCU), "Credit Union Governance," prepared by Karen Cak Niederkohr and John Ikeda (Madison: World Council of Credit Unions, 2005), 2; available from www.woccu.org/bestpractices/governance; accessed 9 October 2008; Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (CCSCU), "Governance," available from www.coastcapitalsavings.com/About_Coast_Capital_Savings/Corporate_Information/Governance/; accessed 10 October 2008; Vivien Lowndes and Christopher Skelcher, "The Dynamics of Multi-Organizational Partnerships: An Analysis of Changing Modes of Governance," *Public Administration* 76 (1998): 318–19; Institute on Governance, Mel Gill, "Governance Dos and Don'ts: Lessons from Case Studies on Twenty Canadian Non-profits," Final Report, April 2001, 7; available from www.iog.ca/publications/nonprofit-gov.pdf; accessed 9 October 2008.
- 3. Emphasis mine. See, for example, WOCCU, 2; CCSCU; Lowndes and Skelcher, 318–19; Institute on Governance, 7.
- 4. Institute on Governance, 7.
- 5. Ibid.
- 6. Chris Cornforth, "Making Sense of Co-operative Governance: Competing Models and Tensions," *Review of International Co-operation* 95, no. 1 (2002): 51–57.
- 7. Spear.
- 8. Emphasis mine.
- 9. Cornforth, 53; Spear, 37–47.
- 10. Lee Egerstrom, "Obstacles to Cooperation," in *Cooperatives and Local Development: Theory and Applications for the 21st Century*, ed. Christopher D. Merrett and Norman Walzer (Armonk, New York: M.E. Sharpe, 2004), 74–75.
- 11. Spear, 48.
- 12. Ibid., 50.
- 13. John Carver, Boards That Make a Difference: A New Design for Leadership in Nonprofit and Public Organizations (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1990), 13.
- 14. Cornforth, 53.

- 15. Spear, 53.
- 16. Ibid., 52.
- 17. Cornforth, 53.
- 18. Spear, 52.
- 19. Ibid., 52–53.
- 20. Cornforth, 53.
- 21. Ibid., 52.
- 22. International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (Joint Project), *Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives* (Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 1995).
- 23. Ibid., 21–22.
- 24. Carver, 28.
- 25. Ibid., 19.
- 26. Ibid., 29.
- 27. Ibid.
- 28. *The Cooperative Grocer*, a bi-monthly magazine for co-op managers and directors in the United States and Canada, features nearly twenty articles that refer to the Carver Model and its application in food co-operatives. These articles can be accessed at www. cooperativegrocer.coop. Also, in their 2004 survey of 197 credit unions in Canada, the Canadian Co-operative Association (CCA) and Brown Governance noted, "There are credit union boards that follow the Carver Model of Policy Governance®" (19). Although the authors did not indicate the number of credit unions that use the Carver Model, it was the only reference to the use of a specific governance model mentioned in the report. CCA and Brown Governance, *Measuring Up: 2004 National Report on Credit Union Governance Practices* (Ottawa: CCA and Brown Governance, 2004).
- 29. Ann Hoyt, *Up a Creek* with *a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom* (Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 2003), 6.
- 30. Institute on Governance, 8; CCA, "Governance Model for Co-ops," in *Governance Matters* (winter 2003): 5; available from www.governance.coop; accessed 15 June 2004.
- 31. Christopher S. Axworthy, "Myth and Reality in Co-operative Organizations: Members, Directors, Employees and Managers," in *Co-operative Organizations and Canadian Society: Popular Institutions and the Dilemmas of Change*, ed. Murray Fulton (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1990), 42.
- 32. Axworthy, 47.
- 33. Cornforth, 53.
- 34. Ibid., 55-56.
- 35. Pellervo Confederation of Finnish Cooperatives, *Corporate Governance and Management Control in Cooperatives* (Helsinki: Pellervo Confederation of Finnish Cooperatives, 2000).

- 36. Joint Project, 10. ICA's list of co-operative values includes self-help, democracy, equality, equity, and solidarity. Furthermore, the second co-operative principle democratic member control states: "Co-operatives are democratic organisations controlled by their members, who actively participate in setting their policies and making decisions. Men and women serving as elected representatives are accountable to the members. In primary co-operatives members have equal voting rights (one member, one vote) and co-operatives at other levels are also organized in a democratic manner."
- 37. Brett Fairbairn, *Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition* (Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 2003), 6.
- 38. Ibid., 6-7.
- 39. Emphasis mine.
- 40. Fairbairn, 7–8. Emphasis mine.
- 41. Emphasis mine.
- 42. Fairbairn, 13.
- 43. Ibid.
- 44. Emphasis mine.
- 45. Fairbairn, 14.
- 46. Ibid.
- 47. Ibid., 6.
- 48. Benjamin Barber, *Strong Democracy: Participatory Politics for a New Age* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1984), 119.
- 49. Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (CUCS), "Report on Credit Union Control Structures," prepared by a Task Force of Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (Regina: Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan, 1977), 25.
- 50. Ibid.
- 51. Ibid.
- 52. Ibid.
- 53. Ibid., 27.
- 54. Ibid.
- 55. Ibid., 28.
- 56. Ibid.
- 57. Ibid.
- 58. Gillian Butler, "Designing Membership Structures for Large Agricultural Cooperatives," USDA ACS Research Report 75 (Washington, D.C.: USDA, 1988).
- 59. Butler, 1.
- 60. Ibid.
- 61. Ibid.

- 62. Ibid., 40.
- 63. Ibid., 42.
- 64. Dwayne Pattison, "Governance, Membership, and Community: Developing a Regional Consumer Co-operative in Saskatchewan" (master's thesis, University of Saskatchewan, 2008).
- 65. Ibid., 34.
- 66. Omer Chouinard, Pierre-Marcel Desjardins, and Eric Forgues, "Governance and Social Cohesion in Credit Unions: A Rural and an Urban Acadian Credit Union in New Brunswick," *Journal of Rural Cooperation* 32, no. 2 (2004): 96.
- 67. Ibid.
- 68. Butler, 43.
- 69. Ibid.
- 70. For more information, see www.affinitycu.ca
- 71. Butler, 43.
- 72. Carol Hunter, "Women in Co-operatives: Some Benchmarks," in *Women in Co-operatives: Proceedings from the Women in Co-operatives Forum*, 7–8 November 1997 (Saskaton: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan, 1998), 2.
- 73. Cristine de Clercy and Lou Hammond Ketilson, "Leadership and Diversity: A Study of Demographic and Attitudinal Homogeneity in Saskatchewan's Credit Union Governance Groups," Summary of Findings, 5 April 2004 (Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan.)
- 74. Kimberly Brown, "Co-operative Democracy: Board Diversity and the Representation of Women" (master's thesis, University of Saskatchewan, 2007), 55.
- 75. Ibid., 44.
- 76. Ibid.
- 77. Ibid.
- 78. Cristine de Clercy, "Co-operation, Federation, and Representation: How Federal Principles Serve the Purposes of Complex Co-operatives," Centre for the Study of Co-operatives Seminar Series, University of Saskatchewan, 22 March 2001.
- 79. Pattison, 42.
- 80. G. Ostergaard and A. Hasley, *Power in Co-operatives: A Study of Internal Politics of British Retail Societies* (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1965).
- 81. de Clercy, Co-operation.
- 82. CCS, e-mail correspondence. 17 October 2008.
- 83. CCA and Brown Governance, 28.
- 84. Ibid.
- 85. Ibid.
- 86. Ibid., 30.

- 87. Pattison, 36.
- 88. CCA and Brown Governance, 8.
- 89. Ibid.
- 90. Ibid.
- 91. Ibid., 16.
- 92. Ibid.
- 93. David Brown, "Better Board Building" (paper presented at the Canadian Conference for Credit Union Executives, Ottawa, 6 May 2008).
- 94. CCA and Brown Governance, 17.
- 95. Brown, "Better Board Building."
- 96. Carver, 155–62.
- 97. Brown, "Better Board Building."
- 98. CCA and Brown Governance, 16.
- 99. Canadian Co-operative Association, "Executive Committees," *Governance Matters* October 2003). Available at www.Governance.coop. Accessed 17 September 2006.
- 100. Brown, "Board Diversity," 124.
- 101. CCA and Brown Governance, 10.
- 102. Ibid.
- 103. Ibid.
- 104. Ibid., 9.
- 105. Ibid.
- 106. Coast Capital Savings. Available from https://www.coastcapitalsavings.com/
- 107. May Lou Santovec, "Building Your Board," in *Credit Union Management* 23, no. 11 (November 2000).
- 108. Sharyn Alden, "All aboard!" in Credit Union Management 24, no. 10 (October 2001).
- 109. John Michael Daley and Flavio Francisco Marsiglia, "Social Diversity within Non-profit Boards: Members' Views on Status and Issues," in *Journal of the Community Development Society* 32, no. 2 (2001): 305.
- 110. CCA and Brown Governance, 32.
- 111. Hoyt, 10.
- 112. CCA and Brown Governance, 32.
- 113. William Brown, "Board Development Practices and Competent Board Members: Implications for Performance," in *Nonprofit Management and Leadership* 17, no. 3 (spring 2007): 313.
- 114. CCA and Brown Governance, 32.
- 115. Ibid.
- 116. Hoyt, 10.

- 117. Ibid., 11.
- 118. Ibid.
- 119. Brown, "Board Development," 311.
- 120. Ibid., 313.
- 121. Karen Zimbelman, "Assessing Board Performance," in *Challenges to the Cooperative Board of Directors*, ed. David Gutknecht and Karen Zimbelman (Nelsonville, OH: Cooperative Grocer, 1996), 34.
- 122. Credit Union Executives Society and BoardSource, *Credit Union Board Self-Assessment: A Research Study,* prepared by Berit Lakey and George Hofheimer (Madison: Credit Union Executive Society, 2004), 5; Zimbelman, 34.
- 123. John Michael Daley and Julio Angulo, "Understanding the Dynamics of Diversity Within Nonprofit Boards," in *Journal of the Community Development Society* 25, no. 2 (1994): 180.
- 124. Ibid., 177.
- 125. Ibid., 181.
- 126. Ibid.
- 127. Daley and Marsiglia.
- 128. Ibid., 305.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alden, Sharyn. "All aboard!" Credit Union Management 24, no. 10 (October 2001).
- Axworthy, Christopher S. "Myth and Reality in Co-operative Organizations: Members, Directors, Employees and Managers." In *Co-operative Organizations and Canadian Society: Popular Institutions and the Dilemmas of Change*, ed. Murray Fulton. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1990.
- Barber, Benjamin. *Strong Democracy: Participatory Politics for a New Age*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1984.
- Berthoud, Heather, and Robert D. Greene. "A Multi-Faceted Look at Diversity: Why Outreach Is Not Enough." *Journal of Volunteer Administration* 19, no. 2 (spring 2001): 2–10.
- Brown, David. "Better Board Building." Paper presented at the Canadian Conference for Credit Union Executives, Ottawa, 6 May 2008.
- Brown, Kimberly. "Co-operative Democracy: Board Diversity and the Representation of Women." Master's thesis, University of Saskatchewan, 2007.
- Brown, William A. "Board Development Practices and Competent Board Members: Implications for Performance." *Nonprofit Management and Leadership* 17, no. 3 (spring 2007): 301–17.
- ——. "Inclusive Governance Practices in Organizations and Implications for Practice." *Nonprofit Management and Leadership* 12, no. 4 (2002): 369–85.
- Buchanan, Anne. Canadian Council for International Co-operation, Organizational Development Team. "Towards an Inclusive Organizational Culture." April 2001. Available from www.ccic.ca/e/docs/002_dev_inclusion_applying_diversity_lens.pdf. Accessed 14 July 2004.
- Butler, Gillian. "Designing Membership Structures for Large Agricultural Co-operatives." USDA ACS Research Report 75. Washington, D.C.: USDA, 1988.
- Canadian Co-operative Association (CCA). "Executive Committees." *Governance Matters* (October 2003). Available at www.Governance.coop. Accessed 17 September 2006.
- _____. "Governance Model for Co-ops." In *Governance Matters* (winter 2003). Available from www.Governance.coop. Accessed 15 June 2004.
- CCA and Brown Governance. *Measuring Up: 2004 National Report on Credit Union Governance Practices.* Ottawa: CCA and Brown Governance, 2004.

- Carver, John. Boards That Make a Difference: A New Design for Leadership in Nonprofit and Public Organizations. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1990.
- Chouinard, Omer, Pierre-Marcel Desjardins, and Eric Forgues. "Governance and Social Cohesion in Credit Unions: A Rural and an Urban Acadian Credit Union in New Brunswick." *Journal of Rural Cooperation* 32, no. 2 (2004): 79–97.
- Coast Capital Savings Credit Union. (CCSCU). "Governance." Available from www. coastcapitalsavings.com/About_Coast_Capital_Savings/Corporate_Information/Governance/. Accessed 10 October 2008.
- Cornforth, Chris. "Making Sense of Co-operative Governance: Competing Models and Tensions." *Review of International Co-operation* 95, no. 1 (2002): 51–57.
- Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan. "Report on Credit Union Control Structures." Prepared by a Task Force of Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan. Regina: Credit Union Central, 1977.
- Credit Union Executives Society (CUES) and BoardSource. *Credit Union Board Self-Assessment: A Research Study*. Prepared by Berit Lakey and George Hofheimer. Madison: Credit Union Executive Society, 2004.
- Daley, John Michael, and Julio Angulo. "Understanding the Dynamics of Diversity Within Nonprofit Boards." *Journal of the Community Development Society* 25, no. 2 (1994): 172–88.
- Daley, John Michael, and Flavio Fancesco Marsiglia, "Social Diversity within Nonprofit Boards: Members' Views on Status and Issues." In *Journal of the Community Development Society* 32, no. 2 (2001): 290–309.
- Dahl, Robert. On Democracy. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1998.
- de Clercy, Cristine. "Co-operation, Federation and Representation: How Federal Principles Serve the Purposes of Complex Co-operatives." Paper presented at the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives Seminar Series, Saskatoon, March 2001.
- de Clercy, Cristine, and Lou Hammond Ketilson. "Leadership and Diversity: A Study of Demographic and Attitudinal Homogeneity in Saskatchewan's Credit Union Governance Groups." Summary of Findings. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 5 April 2004.
- Egerstrom, Lee. "Obstacles to Cooperation." In *Cooperatives and Local Development:*Theory and Applications for the 21st Century, ed. Christopher D. Merrett and Norman Walzer. Armonk, New York: M.E. Sharpe, 2004, 70–91.
- Fairbairn, Brett. *Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition.* Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 2003.
- Fried, Harold O., C.A. Knox Lovell, and Suthathip Yaisawarng. "The Impact of Mergers on Credit Union Service Provision." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 23 (1999): 367–86.
- Fulton, Murray, ed. *Co-operative Organizations and Canadian Society: Popular Institutions and the Dilemmas of Change.* Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1990.
- Gutknecht, David., and Karen Zimbleman, eds. *Challenges to the Co-operative Board of Directors*. Nelsonville, Ohio: Cooperative Grocer, 1996.

- Heimstead, Mary. "Proactive Recruitment." Credit Union Management (July 2000): 60.
- Hoyt, Ann. *Up a Creek* with *a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom*. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 2003.
- Hunter, Carol. "Women in Co-operatives: Some Benchmarks." In *Women in Co-operatives: Proceedings from the Women in Co-operatives Forum*, 7–8 November 1997. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 1998.
- Institute on Governance. Mel Gill. "Governance Dos and Don'ts: Lessons from Case Studies in Twenty Canadian Non-profits." Final Report, April 2001. Available from www.iog.ca/publications/nonprofit-gov.pdf. Accessed 9 October 2008.
- International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy. *Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives*. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 1995.
- Ish, Daniel, and Kathleen Ring. *Legal Responsibilities of Directors and Officers in Canadian Co-operatives*. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 1995.
- Krueger, Richard A. Focus Group: A Practical Guide for Applied Research. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, 1994.
- Leggett, Keith J., and Robert W. Strand. "Membership Growth, Multiple Membership Groups and Agency Control at Credit Unions." *Review of Financial Economics* 11 (2002): 37–46.
- Lowndes, Vivien, and Christopher Skelcher. "The Dynamics of Multi-Organizational Partnerships: An Analysis of Changing Modes of Governance,. *Public Administration* 76 (1998): 318–19.
- Ostergaard, G., and A. Hasley. *Power in Co-operatives: A Study of Internal Politics of British Retail Societies*. Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1965.
- Pateman, Carole. *Participation and Democratic Theory.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1970.
- Pattison, Dwayne. "Governance, Membership, and Community: Developing a Regional Consumer Co-operative in Saskatchewan." Master's thesis, University of Saskatchewan, 2008.
- Pellervo Confederation of Finnish Cooperatives. *Corporate Governance and Management Control in Cooperatives*. Helsinki: Pellervo Confederation of Finnish Cooperatives, 2000.
- Santovec, Mary Lou. "Building Your Board." *Credit Union Management* 23, no. 11 (November 2000).
- Schumpeter, Joseph. *Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy*. New York: Harper and Row, 1976.
- Solomon, Matt. "Enhancing CU Performance through Nominating Committees." *Credit Union Magazine* 62 no. 4 (April 1996): 60.
- Spear, Roger. "Governance in Democratic Member-Based Organisations." *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics* 75, no. 1 (2004): 33–59.

World Council of Credit Unions (WOCCU). "Credit Union Governance." Prepared by Karen Cak Niederkohr and John Ikeda. Madison: World Council of Credit Unions, 2005. Available from www.woccu.org/bestpractices/governance. Accessed 9 October 2008.

Zimbelman, Karen. "Assessing Board Performance." In *Challenges to the Cooperative Board of Directors*, ed. David Gutknecht and Karen Zimbelman. Nelsonville, OH: Cooperative Grocer, 1996.

Occasional Paper Series

(Occasional papers are 8 1/2 x 11 format)

- 2011 Models for Effective Credit Union Governance: Maintaining Community Connections following a Merger. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (82pp. \$15)
- 2011 *The Impact of Retail Co-operative Amalgamations in Western Canada*. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Roger Herman, and Dwayne Pattison (100pp. \$15)
- 2009 Financing Aboriginal Enterprise Development: The Potential of Using Co-operative Models. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (104pp. \$15)
- 2008 The Agriculture of the Middle Initiative: Premobilizing Considerations and Formal Co-operative Structure. Thomas W. Gray (54pp. \$12)
- 2007 Social Cohesion through Market Democratization: Alleviating Legitimation Deficits through Co-operation. Rob Dobrohoczki (68pp. \$10)
- 2006 Data Collection in the Co-operative Sector and Other Business Statistics in Canada and the United States. Angela Wagner and Cristine de Clercy (224pp. \$25)
- 2006 The Case of the Saint-Camille Care and Services Solidarity Co-operative and Its Impact on Social Cohesion. Geneviève Langlois, with the collaboration of Patrick De Bortoli and under the guidance of Jean-Pierre Girard and Benoît Lévesque (96pp. \$10)
- 2005 "Canada's Co-operative Province": Individualism and Mutualism in a Settler Society, 1905–2005. Brett Fairbairn (76pp. \$10)
- 2004 Negotiating Synergies: A Study in Multiparty Conflict Resolution. Marj Benson (408pp. \$35)
- 2003 Co-operatives and Farmers in the New Agriculture. Murray Fulton and Kim Sanderson (60pp. \$10)
- 2002 Conflict, Co-operation, and Culture: A Study in Multiparty Negotiations. Marj Benson (242pp. \$25)

- 2002 Adult Educators in Co-operative Development: Agents of Change. Brenda Stefanson (102pp. \$12)
- 2001 "An Educational Institute of Untold Value": The Evolution of the Co-operative College of Canada, 1953–1987. Jodi Crewe (66pp. \$10)
- 1999 *The Components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet.* Byron Henderson (78pp. \$12)
- 1998 Co-operative Organization in Rural Canada and the Agricultural Co-operative Movement in China: A Comparison. Zhu Shufang and Leonard P. Apedaile (56pp. \$10)
- 1996 Comparative Financial Performance Analysis of Canadian Co-operatives, Investor-Owned Firms, and Industry Norms. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (152pp. \$12)
- 1994 Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires: Background, Market Characteristics, and Future Development. J.T. Zinger (26pp. \$6)
- 1994 The Meaning of Rochdale: The Rochdale Pioneers and the Co-operative Principles. Brett Fairbairn (62pp. \$10)
- 1993 The Co-operative Movement: An International View. S.K. Saxena (20pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operatives in Principle and Practice. Anne McGillivray and Daniel Ish (144pp. \$10)
- 1992 Matador: The Co-operative Farming Tradition. George Melnyk (26pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operative Development: Towards a Social Movement Perspective. Patrick Develtere (114pp. \$15)
- 1991 *The Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: A Statistical Overview*. Louise Simbandumwe, Murray Fulton, and Lou Hammond Ketilson (54pp. \$6)
- 1991 Farmers, Capital, and the State in Germany, c 1860–1914. Brett Fairbairn (36pp. \$6)
- 1990 Community-Based Models of Health Care: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Michael Quennell (66pp. \$8)
- 1989 Patronage Allocation, Growth, and Member Well-Being in Co-operatives. Jeff Corman and Murray Fulton (48pp. \$8)
- 1989 The Future of Worker Co-operatives in Hostile Environments: Some Reflections from Down Under. Allan Halladay and Colin Peile (94pp. \$6)
- 1988 Worker Co-operatives and Worker Ownership: Issues Affecting the Development of Worker Co-operatives in Canada. Christopher Axworthy and David Perry (100pp. \$10)
- 1988 A History of Saskatchewan Co-operative Law 1900 to 1960. Donald Mullord, Christopher Axworthy, and David Liston (66pp. \$8)
- 1988 Co-operative Organizations in Western Canada. Murray Fulton (40pp. \$7)
- 1988 Farm Interest Groups and Canadian Agricultural Policy. Barry Wilson, David Laycock, and Murray Fulton (42pp. \$8)

- 1987 Election of Directors in Saskatchewan Co-operatives: Processes and Results. Lars Apland (72pp. \$6)
- 1987 The Property of the Common: Justifying Co-operative Activity. F.A. Ekelund (74pp. \$6)
- 1987 Co-operative/Government Relations in Canada: Lobbying, Public Policy Development and the Changing Co-operative System. David Laycock (246pp. \$10)
- 1987 *The Management of Co-operatives: A Bibliography*. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Bonnie Korthuis, and Colin Boyd (144pp. \$10)
- 1987 Labour Relations in Co-operatives. Kurt Wetzel and Daniel G. Gallagher (30pp. \$6)
- 1987 Worker Co-operatives: An International Bibliography/ Coopératives de Travailleurs: Une Bibliographie Internationale. Rolland LeBrasseur, Alain Bridault, David Gallingham, Gérard Lafrenière, and Terence Zinger (76pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Their Employees: Towards a Harmonious Relationship. Christopher Axworthy (82pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Social Democracy: Elements of the Norwegian Case. Finn Aage Ekelund (42pp. \$6)
- 1986 Encouraging Democracy in Consumer and Producer Co-operatives. Stuart Bailey (124pp. \$10)
- 1986 A New Model for Producer Co-operatives in Israel. Abraham Daniel (54pp. \$6)
- 1985 Worker Co-operatives in Mondragon, the U.K., and France: Some Reflections. Christopher Axworthy (48pp. \$10)
- 1985 Employment Co-operatives: An Investment in Innovation: Proceedings of the Saskatoon Worker Co-operative Conference. Skip McCarthy, ed. (288pp. \$23)
- 1985 Prairie Populists and the Idea of Co-operation, 1910–1945. David Laycock (48pp. \$6)

Books, Research Reports, and Other Publications

Note: Research reports are available without charge on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre.

- 2013 Through the Eyes of Women: What a Co-operative Can Mean in Supporting Women during Confinement and Integration. Isobel Findlay, James Popham, Patrick Ince, and Sarah Takahashi (8 1/2 x 11, 116pp., Research Report)
- 2013 Health in the Communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation. Julia Bidonde, Mark Brown, Catherine Leviten-Reid, and Erin Nicolas (8 1/2 x 11, 53pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Individualized Funding: A Framework for Effective Implementation. Marsha Dozar, Don Gallant, Judy Hannah, Emily Hurd, Jason Newberry, Ken Pike, and Brian Salisbury (8 1/2 x 11, 25pp., Research Report)

- 2012 Mapping Social Capital in a Network of Community Development Organizations: The South West Centre for Entrepreneurial Development Organizational Network. Jason Heit (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Participatory Action Research: Challenges, Complications, and Opportunities. Patricia W. Elliott (8 1/2 x 11, 54pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Community-Based Regional Food Distribution Initiatives. Colin Anderson and Stéphane McLachlan (8 1/2 x 11, 12pp., Research Report)
- 2012 *Sharing My Life: Building the Co-operative Movement.* Harold Chapman (6 x 9, 208 pp., \$20)
- 2012 *A Co-operative Dilemma: Converting Organizational Form.* Edited by Jorge Sousa and Roger Herman (6 x 9, 324 pp., \$20)
- 2011 "A Place to Learn, Work, and Heal": An Evaluation of Crocus Co-operative. Julia Bidonde and Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp., Research Report)
- 2011 An Economic Analysis of Microcredit Lending. Haotao Wu (8 1/2 x 11, 208pp., PhD Dissertation/Research Report)
- 2011 Empowerment through Co-operation: Disability Inclusion via Multistakeholder Co-operative Development. Kama Soles (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2011 *Economic Impact of Credit Unions on Rural Communities.* Fortunate Mavenga (8 1/2 x 11, 133pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2011 Building a Federal Policy Framework and Program in Support of Community Economic Development. Kirsten Bernas and Brendan Reimer (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Engaging Youth in Community Futures: The Rural Youth Research Internship Project.

 David Thompson and Ashleigh Sauvé (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Understanding and Promoting Effective Partnerships for CED: A Case Study of SEED Winnipeg's Partnerships. Gaelene Askeland, Kirit Patel, and Jerry Buckland (8 $1/2 \times 11$, 45pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *The Managment of Co-operatives: Developing a Post-Secondary Course.* Leezann Freed-Lobchuk, Vera Goussaert, Michael Benarroch, and Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 37pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Co-operative Marketing Options for Organic Agriculture. Jason Heit and Michael Gertler (8 1/2 x 11, 136pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Mining and the Social Economy in Baker Lake, Nunavut. Warren Bernauer (8 $1/2 \times 11$, 32pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Enhancing and Linking Ethnocultural Organizations and Communities in Rural Manitoba: A Focus on Brandon and Steinbach. Jill Bucklaschuk and Monika Sormova (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report)

- 2011 Community Resilience, Adaptation, and Innovation: The Case of the Social Economy in La Ronge. Kimberly Brown, Isobel M. Findlay, and Rob Dobrohoczki (8 1/2 x 11, 73pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Municipal Government Support of the Social Economy Sector. Jenny Kain, Emma Sharkey, and Robyn Webb (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report, co-published with the BC-Alberta Social Economy Research Alliance)
- 2010 Portrait of Community Resilience of Sault Ste Marie. Jude Ortiz and Linda Savory-Gordon (8 1/2 x 11, 80pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Community-Based Planning: Engagement, Collaboration, and Meaningful Participation in the Creation of Neighbourhood Plans. Karin Kliewer (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Building Community: Creating Social and Economic Well-Being: A Conference Reflecting on Co-operative Strategies and Experiences. Conference report prepared by Mark McCulloch (8 1/2 x 11, 60pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2010 Eat Where You Live: Building a Social Economy of Local Food in Western Canada. Joel Novek and Cara Nichols (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Cypress Hills Ability Centres Inc.: Exploring Alternatives. Maria Basualdo and Chipo Kangayi (8 1/2 x 11, 76pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding. Nicola S. Chopin and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 122pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Adult Education and the Social Economy: The Communitarian Pedagogy of Watson Thomson. Michael Chartier (8 1/2 x 11, 114pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2010 Self-Determination in Action: The Entrepreneurship of the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative. Dwayne Pattison and Isobel M. Findlay (8 $1/2 \times 11$, 64pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Walking Backwards into the Future. George Melnyk (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2009 South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence. Isobel M. Findlay, Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry (8 1/2 x 11, 46pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Enabling Policy Environments for Co-operative Development: A Comparative Experience. Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Culture, Creativity, and the Arts: Achieving Community Resilience and Sustainability through the Arts in Sault Ste. Marie. Jude Ortiz and Gayle Broad (8 $1/2 \times 11$, 133pp., Research Report)

- 2009 The Role of Co-operatives in Health Care: National and International Perspectives.

 Report of an International Health Care Conference held in Saskatoon 28 October 2008. Prepared by Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2009 The Importance of Policy for Community Economic Development: A Case Study of the Manitoba Context. Brendan Reimer, Dan Simpson, Jesse Hajer, amd John Loxley (8 1/2 x 11, 47pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Northern Ontario Women's Economic Development Conference Report. PARO Centre for Women's Enterprise (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy. Cara Spence and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database*. Karen Lynch, Cara Spence, and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 22pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Social Enterprises and the Ontario Disability Support Program: A Policy Perspective on Employing Persons with Disabilities. Gayle Broad and Madison Saunders (8 1/2 x 11, 41pp., Research Report)
- 2008 A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities. Karen Lynch and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Community Supported Agriculture: Putting the "Culture" Back into Agriculture. Miranda Mayhew, Cecilia Fernandez, and Lee-Ann Chevrette (8 1/2 x 11, 10pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Algoma Central Railway: Wilderness Tourism by Rail Opportunity Study. Prepared by Malone Given Parsons Ltd. for the Coalition for Algoma Passenger Trains (8 1/2 x 11, 82pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Recovery of the Collective Memory and Projection into the Future: ASOPRICOR. Jose Reyes, Janeth Valero, and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Measuring and Mapping the Impact of Social Economy Enterprises: The Role of Co-ops in Community Population Growth. Chipo Kangayi, Rose Olfert, and Mark Partridge (8 1/2 x 11, 42pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: An Enterprise Perspective. Wanda Wuttunee, Martin Chicilo, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: A Scan of Financing Providers in the Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Northwestern Ontario Region. Wanda Wuttunee, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 39pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Government Policies towards Community Economic Development and the Social Economy in Quebec and Manitoba. John Loxley and Dan Simpson (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)

- 2008 Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods. Mitch Diamantopoulos and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Between Solidarity and Profit: The Agricultural Transformation Societies in Spain (1940–2000). Cándido Román Cervantes (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership: Issues and Challenges. Bill Turner (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Innovations in Co-operative Marketing and Communications. Leslie Brown (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cognitive Processes and Co-operative Business Strategy. Murray Fulton and Julie Gibbings (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Heritage: Where We've Come From. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 18pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership as a Complex and Dynamic Social Process. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 28pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cohesion, Adhesion, and Identities in Co-operatives. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2006 Revisiting the Role of Co-operative Values and Principles: Do They Act to Include or Exclude? Lou Hammond Ketilson (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Social Responsibility: A Natural Advantage? Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 2006 Globalization and Co-operatives. William Coleman (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 2006 Leadership and Representational Diversity. Cristine de Clercy (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2006 Synergy and Strategic Advantage: Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Communities under Pressure: The Role of Co-operatives and the Social Economy, synthesis report of a conference held in Ottawa, March 2006, sponsored by the Centre; PRI, Government of Canada; SSHRC; Human Resources and Social Development Canada; and the Co-operatives Secretariat (English and French, 8 1/2 x 11, 14pp., free)
- 2006 Farmers' Association Training Materials (part of the China-Canada Agriculture Development Program prepared for Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and the Canadian International Development Agency). Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 134pp., available on our website)
- 2006 International Seminar on Legislation for Farmer Co-operatives in China: A Canadian Perspective. Daniel Ish, Bill Turner, and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 22pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2006 Networking Diversity: Including Women and Other Under-Represented Groups in Co-operatives. Myfanwy Van Vliet (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., Research Report)
- 2004 Living the Dream: Membership and Marketing in the Co-operative Retailing System. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 288pp. \$20)

- 2004 Building a Dream: The Co-operative Retailing System in Western Canada, 1928–1988 (reprint). Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 352pp. \$20)
- 2004 Cohesion, Consumerism, and Co-operatives: Looking ahead for the Co-operative Retailing System. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2004 Co-operative Membership and Globalization: New Directions in Research and Practice. Brett Fairbairn and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 320pp. \$20)
- 2003 Beyond Beef and Barley: Organizational Innovation and Social Factors in Farm Diversification and Sustainability. Michael Gertler, JoAnn Jaffe, and Lenore Swystun (8 1/2 x 11, 118pp., Research Reports Series, \$12)
- 2003 The Role of Social Cohesion in the Adoption of Innovation and Selection of Organizational Form. Roger Herman (8 1/2 x 11, 58pp., Research Report)
- 2003 Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 38pp. \$5)
- 2003 *The Role of Farmers in the Future Economy*. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2003 Is It the End of Utopia? The Israeli Kibbutz at the Twenty-First Century. Uriel Leviatan (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2003 *Up a Creek* with a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom. Ann Hoyt (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2002 A Report on Aboriginal Co-operatives in Canada: Current Situation and Potential for Growth. L. Hammond Ketilson and I. MacPherson (8 1/2 x 11, 400pp. \$35)
- 2001 Against All Odds: Explaining the Exporting Success of the Danish Pork Co-operatives. Jill Hobbs (6 x 9, 40pp. \$5)
- 2001 Rural Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2001 NGCs: Resource Materials for Business Development Professionals and Agricultural Producers. (binder, 8 1/2 x 11, 104pp. \$17)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operative Development in Canada. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operatives: Key Steps in the Issuance of Securities / The Secondary Trade. Brenda Stefanson, Ian McIntosh, Dean Murrison (6 x 9, 34pp. \$5)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operatives and the Law in Saskatchewan. Chad Haaf and Brenda Stefanson (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2001 An Economic Impact Analysis of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: Update 1998. Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp. available on our website in downloadable pdf format as well as on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2000 Co-operative Development and the State: Case Studies and Analysis. Two volumes. Vol. I, pt. 1: Summary, Observations, and Conclusions about Co-operative Development; vol. I, pt. 2: Issues in Co-operative Development and Co-operative—State Relations, Brett

- Fairbairn (6 x 9, 66pp. \$8); vol. II, pt. 3: *Co-operative Development and Sector–State Relations in the U.S.A.*, Brett Fairbairn and Laureen Gatin; vol. II, pt. 4: *A Study of Co-operative Development and Government–Sector Relations in Australia*, Garry Cronan and Jayo Wickremarachchi (6 x 9, 230pp. \$12)
- 2000 Interdisciplinarity and the Transformation of the University. Brett Fairbairn and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 *The CUMA Farm Machinery Co-operatives*. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 46pp. \$5)
- 2000 Farm Machinery Co-operatives in Saskatchewan and Québec. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2000 Farm Machinery Co-operatives: An Idea Worth Sharing. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 Canadian Co-operatives in the Year 2000: Memory, Mutual Aid, and the Millennium. Brett Fairbairn, Ian MacPherson, and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 356pp. \$22)
- 1999 Networking for Success: Strategic Alliances in the New Agriculture. Mona Holmlund and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 1999 Prairie Connections and Reflections: The History, Present, and Future of Co-operative Education. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 1999 *The SANASA Model: Co-operative Development through Micro-Finance*. Ingrid Fischer, Lloyd Hardy, Daniel Ish, and Ian MacPherson (6 x 9, 80pp. \$10)
- 1999 A Car-Sharing Co-operative in Winnipeg: Recommendations and Alternatives. David Leland (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 1998 Working Together: The Role of External Agents in the Development of Agriculture-Based Industries. Andrea Harris, Murray Fulton, Brenda Stefanson, and Don Lysyshyn (8 1/2 x 11, 184pp. \$12)
- 1998 *The Social and Economic Importance of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan.* Lou Hammond Ketilson, Michael Gertler, Murray Fulton, Roy Dobson, and Leslie Polsom (8 1/2 x 11, 244 pp. free)
- 1998 Proceedings of the Women in Co-operatives Forum, 7–8 November 1997, Moose Jaw, SK (8 1/2 x 11, 112pp. \$12)
- 1997 A Discussion Paper on Canadian Wheat Board Governance. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Balancing Act: Crown Corporations in a Successful Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *A Conversation about Community Development*. Centre for the Study of Co-operatives (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)

- 1997 Credit Unions and Community Economic Development. Brett Fairbairn, Lou Hammond Ketilson, and Peter Krebs (6 x 9, 32pp. \$5)
- 1997 New Generation Co-operatives: Responding to Changes in Agriculture. Brenda Stefanson and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1996 Legal Responsibilities of Directors and Officers in Canadian Co-operatives. Daniel Ish and Kathleen Ring (6 x 9, 148pp. \$15)
- 1995 Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives. The International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (5 1/2 x 8 1/2, 356pp. \$22)
- 1995 New Generation Co-operatives: Rebuilding Rural Economies. Brenda Stefanson, Murray Fulton, and Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 1994 *Research for Action: Women in Co-operatives*. Leona Theis and Lou Hammond Ketilson (8 1/2 x 11, 98pp. \$12)

To purchase any of the above publications, please contact Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966–8509 Fax: (306) 966–8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca

Website: http://www.usaskstudies.coop